

Methodological issues in consciousness research

Edited by

Antonino Raffone, Axel Cleeremans, Roumen Kirov, Morten Overgaard, Luca Simione and Aviva Berkovich-Ohana

Published in Frontiers in Psychology Frontiers in Human Neuroscience Frontiers in Neuroscience





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2444-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2444-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Methodological issues in consciousness research

Topic editors

Antonino Raffone — Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Axel Cleeremans — Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium Roumen Kirov — Institute of Neurobiology, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences (BAS), Bulgaria Morten Overgaard — Aarhus University, Denmark Luca Simione — UNINT - Università degli studi Internazionali di Roma, Italy Aviva Berkovich-Ohana — University of Haifa, Israel

Citation

Raffone, A., Cleeremans, A., Kirov, R., Overgaard, M., Simione, L., Berkovich-Ohana, A., eds. (2023). *Methodological issues in consciousness research*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2444-2

frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

- 04 Editorial: Methodological issues in consciousness research Luca Simione, Antonino Raffone, Roumen Kirov, Morten Overgaard, Aviva Berkovich-Ohana and Axel Cleeremans
- 07 Commentary: Two Ways of Thinking About Self-Control Meysam Moayery
- 12 Reliability of Online Surveys in Investigating Perceptions and Impressions of Faces

Naoyasu Hirao, Koyo Koizumi, Hanako Ikeda and Hideki Ohira

19 Perceptual Awareness Negativity—Does It Reflect Awareness or Attention?

Michał Bola and Łucja Doradzińska

23 Consciousness Science Needs Some Rest: How to Use Resting-State Paradigm to Improve Theories and Measures of Consciousness
Marcin Kogulak and Michael Wiggraphon

Marcin Koculak and Michał Wierzchoń

27 Tackling the Electro-Topography of the Selves Through the Sphere Model of Consciousness Patrizio Paoletti, Rotem Leshem, Michele Pellegrino and Tal Dotan Ben-Soussan Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY David Rosenthal, The City University of New York, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Luca Simione ☑ luca.simione@gmail.com

RECEIVED 05 May 2023 ACCEPTED 18 May 2023 PUBLISHED 06 June 2023

CITATION

Simione L, Raffone A, Kirov R, Overgaard M, Berkovich-Ohana A and Cleeremans A (2023) Editorial: Methodological issues in consciousness research. *Front. Psychol.* 14:1217732. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1217732

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Simione, Raffone, Kirov, Overgaard, Berkovich-Ohana and Cleeremans. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Methodological issues in consciousness research

Luca Simione^{1,2*}, Antonino Raffone³, Roumen Kirov⁴, Morten Overgaard⁵, Aviva Berkovich-Ohana⁶ and Axel Cleeremans⁷

¹Institute of Cognitive Sciences and Technologies, CNR, Rome, Italy, ²Faculty of Interpreting and Translation, Università degli Studi Internazionali, UNINT, Rome, Italy, ³Department of Psychology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁴Institute of Neurobiology, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences (BAS), Sofia, Bulgaria, ⁵CFIN, Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁶Faculty of Education, University of Haifa, and Brain and Behavior Hub, Haifa, Israel, ⁷Center for Research in Cognition and Neuroscience (CRCN), ULB Neuroscience Institute (UNI), Université libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium

KEYWORDS

methodologic challenge, self-control, online research, EEG, perceptual awareness negativity, self-awareness

Editorial on the Research Topic Methodological issues in consciousness research

The study of consciousness has been greatly shaped by the development of increasingly compelling methods to measure it, from Wundt (1897) introspection at Lipsia (Wundt, 1897), to the studies of brain lesions of the middle of the past century (see LeDoux et al., 2020) and, finally, to the search for the neural correlates of consciousness through EEG and fMRI studies (Koch et al., 2016). As methods have had such a prominent role in guiding and orienting the research on consciousness, we felt a Research Topic on Methodological Issues in Consciousness Research was timely and relevant. We aimed to assemble different contributions to the field, spanning different experimental methods, from the well-established EEG paradigm to the new zest for online behavioral studies. In the following, we offer a brief overview of the contents of each contribution.

The commentary by Moayery points out three critical issues with the model of selfcontrol in consumer behavior as proposed by Vosgerau et al. (2020), in which selfcontrol failures derive from the choice of violating superordinate long-term goals, putting a great emphasis on overt or conscious processes. While recognizing the value of this position, Moayery's article originally underlines the following three critical points in the formulation of Vosgerau et al. (2020), emphasizing the role of unconscious processes in determining consumer behaviors. First, the lack of self-control does not always derive from a deliberate choice between alternative goals, as people often fail to self-monitor their actions or intentions. Second, while ego-depletion theory suffers from several shortcomings, it addresses a number of real-life phenomena that should be taken into account and not rejected. Third, Vosgerau et al. (2020) model ignores the contribution of impulsive mechanisms in determining human behavior. Overall, this commentary highlights the need to consider a more balanced perspective on the role of conscious and unconscious determinants of self-control in future research.

A large number of studies conducted in the last years have been exploiting the possibility of using online research tools instead of laboratory ones, as they guarantee easier and faster access to large groups of participants. However, the validity of such online instruments in consciousness studies is still a matter of scientific debate. In this framework, the article by Hirao et al. explores the reliability of online experiments for collecting data about perception and impressions of faces. To this aim, they conduct an experimental study with both a typical laboratory sample and two online samples. They compare the samples' responses regarding three visual perceptual features and 16 items regarding impressions of the face, such as trustworthiness, honesty, and attractiveness. Overall, they find a moderate to high correlation between the scores assessed in the online and in the in-person samples and a very limited rate of mismatch between the samples. However, they find that the differences in the average scores of the stimuli were smaller in the online assessment than in the laboratory one, suggesting the need for a larger sample while conducting online research. This article, then, is valuable in providing practical guidelines for future online studies investigating the perception and impression of faces.

Consciousness research makes large use of neuroimaging methods, as they can reveal how the brain works in different consciousness states and for elaborating different contents. This Research Topic includes three articles exploring the limits of the actual neuroscientific methods in consciousness studies and proposing new frameworks for their improved use. The first article by Koculak and Wierzchon presents a critical re-thinking about the use of the so-called "resting-state" paradigm, in which participants are scanned with an fMRI while not receiving any external stimulation and having no straightforward task. They argue that this paradigm, while extremely useful in the context of clinical application for the diagnostics of various disorders of consciousness, could be made more useful for a non-clinical scientific approach. In particular, they propose adding a type of experience sampling during the paradigm to connect neural activity and mental contents, and to mix the resting-state paradigm with tasks, as this would further increase the ecological validity of this assessment.

Investigations about the neural correlate of consciousness also employ the event-related potential (ERP) technique. Recently, it has been proposed that an early negative ERP component may reflect the awareness of stimuli, in terms of perceptual awareness negativity (PAN; Dembski et al., 2021). PAN has been extensively investigated by Koivisto and colleagues (Koivisto and Revonsuo, 2007, 2010; Koivisto and Grassini, 2016). Bola and Doradzinska critically review the evidence in favor of PAN as a marker of consciousness. In particular, as many contradicting results point out the possibility that PAN mostly reflects attentional processes rather than awareness, they question whether the "A in PAN indeed stands for awareness and not attention" (Bola and Doradzinska; p. 3). PAN shares several features with a typical attentional component such as the N2 posterior-contralateral (N2pc). Thus, the authors suggest investigating PAN using a more falsificationoriented approach, thus effectively dissociating attention from awareness. As this literature is in its infancy, we hope that this opinion article could inspire a new line of investigations in the search for the neural correlate of consciousness.

In their article, Paoletti et al. address the interesting problem of the electroencephalographic correlates of different levels of self-awareness. Starting from the definition of different levels of the self as represented as concentric circles, from a peripheral narrative self to a central state of overcoming the self (a third state proposed by the authors and characterized by a complete absence of any sense of self), Paoletti et al. propose a new hypothesis. They argue that "moving" toward the center of the model is related to a gradual slowing of the EEG frequencies associated with each state of the self. To support their hypothesis, they further review a number of EEG studies on different meditative states and their associated levels of self-awareness. From this mini-review, they report evidence consistent with their hypotheses, with slower EEG frequencies detected during non-dual (emptiness) meditation, a meditative practice aimed at experiencing a form of pure awareness or absence of the self, resembling the overcoming of the self state proposed by the authors. However, further studies should be conducted to test this hypothesis.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this collection addresses many fundamental issues that have emerged over the last few years in the quest to understand consciousness, including problems related to selfawareness and the implications of recent neuropsychological studies. Even if these articles open up more scientific questions than they answer, they can contribute to the debate around the methodological foundation of consciousness research. The epistemology of consciousness studies is still in search of clear definitions and methods (Harman, 1994), to which we hope to contribute with this Research Topic.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Dembski, C., Koch, C., and Pitts, M. (2021). Perceptual awareness negativity: a physiological correlate of sensory consciousness. *Trends Cognit. Sci.* 25, 660–670. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2021.05.009

Harman, W. (1994). The scientific exploration of consciousness: towards an adequate epistemology. *J. Conscious. Studies* 1, 140–148.

Koch, C., Massimini, M., Boly, M., and Tononi, G. (2016). Neural correlates of consciousness: progress and problems. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 307-321. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.22

Koivisto, M., and Grassini, S. (2016). Neural processing around 200 ms after stimulus-onset correlates with subjective visual awareness. *Neuropsychologia* 84, 235–243. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.02.024 Koivisto, M., and Revonsuo, A. (2007). How meaning shapes seeing. *Psychol. Sci.* 18, 845–849. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01989.x

Koivisto, M., and Revonsuo, A. (2010). Event-related brain potential correlates of visual awareness. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 34, 922–934. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.12.002

LeDoux, J. E., Michel, M., and Lau, H. (2020). A little history goes a long way toward understanding why we study consciousness the way we do today. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 117, 6976–6984. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1921623117

Vosgerau, J., Scopelliti, I., and Huh, Y. E. (2020). Exerting self-control≠ sacrificing pleasure. J. Consum. Psychol. 30, 181–200. doi: 10.1002/jcpy.1142

Wundt, W. (1897). Outlines of Psychology. England: Engelmann.





Commentary: Two Ways of Thinking About Self-Control

Meysam Moayery*

Department of Marketing, Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

Keywords: self-control, self-monitoring failures, ego-depletion, reflective and impulsive determinants, nonconscious self-control

INTRODUCTION

The basic premise of Vosgerau et al.'s (2020; henceforth VSH) article is one that few consumer behavior researchers and psychologists would debate: "self-control conflicts are subjective" and "not all consumers pursue the same superordinate long-term goals" (p. 187). While the dominant paradigm defines self-control as a consumer's choice to desist from hedonic consumption, VSH outline self-control failures as choices violating superordinate long-term goals (whether hedonic or utilitarian) that entail the anticipation of regret. Therefore, the central message of VSH's framework is that self-control does not require abstinence from pleasure (i.e., exerting self-control \neq sacrificing pleasure). VSH also argue that this conceptualization is vital for the construct validity of self-control studies in consumer research.

This commentary agrees with the idea that the choice of hedonic consumption (e.g., chocolate cake) is not always equated with failures in self-control. In this regard, Moayery et al. (2019b) showed that if consumers do not endorse any standards regarding their diet, they might buy more unhealthy snacks even when enough self-regulatory resources are available. Similarly, it has been suggested that the desire for unhealthy food cannot be translated into temptation, unless the person follows a healthy diet (Hofmann and Kotabe, 2012). At the same time, in this paper, I wish to draw attention to three issues that help in making the distinction between the perspective presented by VSH and my perspective on self-control. These issues are self-monitoring failures, ego-depletion effects, and reflective and impulsive determinants of self-control. Therefore, building on VSH's framework, this commentary proposes an expanded, more inclusive perspective on self-control problems. In order to flesh out this idea, I attempt to (1) clarify that people often fail to detect a conflict of self-control because they fail to self-monitor, (2) challenge the idea that ego-depletion is not a real phenomenon, and (3) highlight the role of reflective and impulsive aspects of self-control. This commentary also discusses a direction for future studies with emphasis on non-conscious forms of self-control and some methodological considerations for measuring impulses.

SELF-MONITORING FAILURES

VSH's framework considers the concept of opposing preferences as the core idea of the definition of self-control (i.e., a conflict between co-existing selves). These preferences may vary over time, together with a lack of symmetry in their importance. Therefore, according to this framework, exerting self-control can be conceived as resolving a goal conflict (e.g., a health goal vs. immediate gratification) in service of superordinate long-term preferences. On the other hand, self-control failures are represented as yielding to temptation (i.e., the violation of superordinate long-term benefits) for which the consumer expects to feel regret. In the same vein, recent studies also provide evidence for a link between anticipated emotions and self-control judgments (Kotabe et al., 2019). However, this commentary wants to emphasize the fact that people are not always able to perceive self-control conflicts due to self-monitoring failures.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences (BAS), Bulgaria

Reviewed by:

Neil Dagnall, Manchester Metropolitan University, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Meysam Moayery meysam.moayery@evaf.vu.lt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Perception Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 01 June 2021 Accepted: 28 June 2021 Published: 21 July 2021

Citation:

Moayery M (2021) Commentary: Two Ways of Thinking About Self-Control. Front. Psychol. 12:718715. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.718715

7

Self-monitoring is one the major ingredients of self-control. This includes keeping track of one's responses and actions to compare the real situation of the self to one's goals and ideals (i.e., recognition of conflicts; Baumeister and Heatherton, 1996; Baumeister, 2002). Simply stated, self-monitoring is closely related to the identification of an incompatibility between the expected outcomes of acting based on desire and the person's value system and self-regulatory goal standards (Hofmann and Kotabe, 2012). Therefore, conflict monitoring can be deemed as a fundamental cognitive function supporting the process through which control is recruited (Yeung, 2014). In this regard, prior research has shown that self-monitoring is associated with a wide range of behaviors including improved weight management, healthy dietary change (see Spring et al., 2020), and spending behaviors (for a review, see Moayery et al., 2019a). Nevertheless, a person may temporarily fail to experience a self-control conflict (i.e., self-monitoring failure; Hofmann and Kotabe, 2012). Indeed, sometimes communication to the higher cognitive system (in the prefrontal cortex), which is linked to selfcontrol, is blocked due to consumers' lack of attention, which means that goals are kept in the pre-conscious domain in this situation (Plassmann and Mormann, 2017). For example, Mr. A, who is having a dinner date at a restaurant, may see a piece of chocolate cake on the dessert menu and be aware that his health goal is to eat healthy foods. However, he might not be paying attention toward his goal, and hence the absence of communication with the higher cognitive systems that are linked to self-control (see Plassmann and Mormann, 2017). This lack of attention can be partially attributed to the fact people often track multiple goals at the same time (Fujita, 2011; Neal et al., 2017). For instance, Mr. A has to pay attention to his date (e.g., presenting himself in a favorable manner) as well as his eating behavior (e.g., to prevent overeating non-healthy foods) simultaneously (see Fujita, 2011).

EGO-DEPLETION EFFECTS

VSH discuss that it is difficult to draw a generalizable conclusion from the current predominant paradigm for studying selfcontrol due to the application of ego-depletion effects. They doubt the existence of ego-depletion and claim that it may be arguable to conjecture on what caused the effects that were observed in current studies on self-control. They argue that ego-depletion might be a result of cognitive fatigue or type-I errors. Although this commentary concurs with VSH that there are several challenges and criticisms of ego-depletion (for reviews, see Englert, 2016; André et al., 2019; Alquist et al., 2020), it appears premature to dismiss the phenomenon because none of the critical evidence provides conclusive answers that ego-depletion does not exist (Friese et al., 2019). In fact, the application of the ego-depletion theory in everyday problems, across a variety of domains, has been tested successfully. These include impulse buying, alcohol consumption, eating behavior, self-protective behavior, logical thinking, making choices, sport and exercise behavior, and even math test performance (Muraven et al., 2005; Vohs, 2006; Hofmann et al., 2007; Vohs and Faber, 2007; Bertrams et al., 2016; Englert, 2016; Moayery et al., 2019b). These findings are in line with the basic premise of the strength model emphasizing that different tasks and functions use a global resource (i.e., relying on a domain-general resource), which can become depleted by successive attempts at self-regulation (Bertrams et al., 2016; Englert, 2016; Wagner and Heatherton, 2016; Baumeister and Vohs, 2018). According to this account, the depleted state results in impaired self-control task performance, the phenomenon known as ego-depletion (Hagger et al., 2010; Baumeister et al., 2018; Alquist et al., 2020).

This commentary assumes that the ambiguity associated with ego-depletion is related to the uncertainties regarding the underlying mechanism as well as the nature of this limited resource (see Hedgcock et al., 2012; Friese et al., 2019). To address this concern, ample research has documented the cognitive, psychological and neurological aspects of ego-depletion as supporting evidence for this phenomenon (for reviews, see Englert, 2016; Wagner and Heatherton, 2016). For instance, it has been demonstrated that self-regulatory resource depletion weakens some kinds of cognitive activities (e.g., complex thinking) which need active guidance by the self (Schmeichel et al., 2003). Interestingly, Vohs et al. (2011), in line with the limited-resource model (i.e., the strength model), showed that ego-depletion is not equivalent to fatigue. They concluded that the ego-depletion effect appears when there is a lack of selfregulatory capacity, which can be interpreted as the tiredness of the inner energy that regulates unwanted responses. Another study also empirically demonstrated that self-regulatory resource depletion reduces the activity of the right middle frontal gyrus (located in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; Hedgcock et al., 2012). To conclude, although this commentary agrees that the ego-depletion theory suffers from several shortcomings (see Friese et al., 2019), up until now, alternative explanations cannot provide a complete picture of the self-control issue without subtly reintroducing the idea of depleted energies (Baumeister and Vohs, 2018; Baumeister et al., 2018). For example, in a move toward a new perspective on the nature of effortful control, Baumeister and his colleagues have recently integrated the resource models with other alternative theoretical approaches (e.g., cost-benefit models; Alquist et al., 2020; see also André et al., 2019). This body of literature provides new insight into the true nature of the capacity or resource to exert effortful control and related fatigue-like effects.

REFLECTIVE AND IMPULSIVE DETERMINANTS OF SELF-CONTROL

It can be discussed that VSH's framework ignores reflective self-control conflicts due to overemphasizing consumption selfcontrol (e.g., consumption of time, money, and food), which makes it difficult to generalize the model to other behavior domains with more serious consequences (see Lamberton, 2020). This commentary assumes that making deliberate judgments and evaluations, as well as suppressing impulses are executive functions of this higher-order mental operation, known as the "reflective system" (Hofmann et al., 2009). This reflective system can be dietary restraint standards concerning eating or purchasing snacks (Hofmann et al., 2007; Moayery et al., 2019b), reflective trust in close relationships (Murray et al., 2011), or action and coping plans in health care professional behavior (Presseau et al., 2014), etc.

Now imagine a conflict between Sally and her partner, Harry: Sally likes her house to be clean, but it is not one of Harry's priorities. While Sally needs Harry's help to achieve her goal of keeping things clean, asking him to cooperate means she is left vulnerable to his non-responsiveness. If Sally wants to ask for his help (i.e., ignoring her need to avoid his rejection), she needs to make sure that it is safe for her to depend on Harry to achieve her goals (Murray et al., 2011). Are deliberate or conscious expectations of partner caring (i.e., reflective trust) enough to govern self-protection in romantic relationships? According to Murray et al. (2011), impulsive trust (i.e., automatic evaluative associations to a partner) and reflective trust (i.e., relatively conscious) jointly regulate self-protection in close relationships. Applied to eating behavior, prior research has shown that the joint consideration of impulsive (e.g., an implicit measure) and reflective influences (e.g., dietary restraint), as well as self-regulatory resources may help to predict unhealthy snack intakes more accurately (Hofmann et al., 2007; Friese et al., 2008). This concurs with findings from other studies in a representative range of self-control domains including drinking, impulse buying, sexual interest behavior, and other social interactions (see Hofmann et al., 2009; Moayery et al., 2019b). Taken together, these results suggest that a joint function of reflective and impulsive mechanisms can predict most human behaviors, with special application to consumer and health psychology (Strack et al., 2006; Hofmann et al., 2008a). According to this logic, "when consumers' behavior is less a result of reflective inputs and more a result of impulse, the quality of their lives suffers" (Vohs, 2006, p. 220).

VSH have recently responded to comments stating that their conceptualization of self-control can accommodate reflective self-control conflicts (see Scopelliti et al., 2020). In my humble opinion, even if we accept this notion, their conceptualization of self-control is still mute regarding the impulsive aspect of the self-control problem. In fact, while one the main goals of consumer psychology is to provide insights into when and why consumer behavior is directed by impulsive vs. reflective determinants (Hofmann et al., 2008b), VSH focus solely on deliberate and largely controlled forms of behavior. This is based on the premise that people, in their everyday lives, often act impulsively in a way that is not necessarily consistent with their declared evaluations and goals (Friese et al., 2008).

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

Traditional research has defined self-control as the capacity of the individual to override or inhibit their competing urges, impulses, desires, and automatic or habitual responses (e.g., Muraven and Baumeister, 2000; Hagger et al., 2010). Thus,

this body of literature has mostly attempted to uncover the capacity for effortful impulse inhibition, and hence has neglected automatic self-control modes (Hofmann et al., 2009; Fujita, 2011). In a somewhat different approach, VSH characterized self-control failure as a violation of superordinate longterm goals accompanied by anticipated regret. However, in my opinion, this conceptualization is also in line with the intentional notion of self-control, and hence misses the nonconscious (automated) form of self-control. Consequently, this commentary strongly recommends researchers to devote a proportionate amount of attention to non-conscious initiation of self-control including automatic goal pursuit (Bargh et al., 2001; see also Carnevale and Fujita, 2016), habitual regulatory processes, priming effects (Rebar et al., 2016), and even the effect of sleeping patterns on self-control (Williams and Poehlman, 2017). Interestingly, some researchers have even suggested that it would be more instructive to view unconscious forces as essential determinants of self-control, through which interventions can be devised that disturb the domination of impulses via habit creation or disturb the implicit associations between vice and positive affect (for a review, see Williams and Poehlman, 2017). For instance, there is evidence showing that environmental cues which are associated with motor inhibition (e.g., fearful facial expressions) can be applied to control unintentionally evoked impulses toward rewarding food objects (Veling et al., 2011). Nevertheless, this paper does not aim to underestimate controlled inputs in consumer behavior, given that both conscious and unconscious processes should be respected in consumer research (see Baumeister et al., 2017).

In addition, this paper shares VSH's general perspective that self-control researchers should ensure that participants truly experience self-control conflicts. To this end, VSH consider some crucial methodological implications to clarify how researchers can verify that participants experience selfcontrol conflicts and how to assess them (e.g., doing pretests). They also highlight the role of anticipated regret as an essential indicator to correctly capture self-control conflicts and failures. However, this commentary argues that these methods do not explain how impulses emerge or how researchers can measure them. To address this issue, I encourage researchers to follow a growing body of psychological literature that aims to conceptualize selfcontrol as a psychological process and not as a unitary phenomenon (Hofmann and Kotabe, 2012; Hofmann et al., 2012, 2014; Moayery et al., 2019a). More especially, this body of research aims to shed light on the underlying psychological process rather than focusing on the ultimate outcome variable (e.g., food consumption) (Hofmann et al., 2012, 2014). As a result, this stream of research provides a clear distinction between the strength of a given desire (i.e., impulses) and the capacity to control a desire (Hofmann et al., 2014). Interestingly, impulse formation is the starting point of this conceptualization of self-control. For instance, Moayery et al. (2019a) explained how impulses are driven by internal context (i.e., personality, homeostatic dysregulations, and habit) and external stimuli. Thus, this conceptualization provides opportunities for measuring impulses through self-report measures (e.g., Everyday Temptation Study) or implicit measures (Hofmann et al., 2012, 2014).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Alquist, J. L., Baumeister, R. F., Tice, D. M., and Core, T. J. (2020). What you don't know can hurt you: uncertainty impairs executive function. *Front. Psychol.* 11:576001. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.576001
- André, N., Audiffren, M., and Baumeister, R. F. (2019). An integrative model of effortful control. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 13:79. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2019.00079
- Bargh, J. A., Gollwitzer, P. M., Lee-Chai, A., Barndollar, K., and Trötschel, R. (2001). The automated will: nonconscious activation and pursuit of behavioral goals. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 81, 1014–1027. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.81.6.1014
- Baumeister, R. F. (2002). Yielding to temptation: self-control failure, impulsive purchasing, and consumer behavior. J. Consum. Res. 28, 670–676. doi: 10.1086/338209
- Baumeister, R. F., Clark, C. J., Kim, J., and Lau, S. (2017). Consumers (and consumer researchers) need conscious thinking in addition to unconscious processes: a call for integrative models, a commentary on Williams and Poehlman. J. Consum. Res. 44, 252–257. doi: 10.1093/jcr/ucx042
- Baumeister, R. F., and Heatherton, T. F. (1996). Self-regulation failure: an overview. *Psychol. Inq.* 7, 1–15. doi: 10.1207/s15327965pli0701_1
- Baumeister, R. F., Tice, D. M., and Vohs, K. D. (2018). The strength model of selfregulation: conclusions from the second decade of willpower research. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 13, 141–145. doi: 10.1177/1745691617716946
- Baumeister, R. F., and Vohs, K. D. (2018). "Strength model of self-regulation as limited resource: assessment, controversies, update," in Self-Regulation and Self-Control. Selected Works of Roy F. Baumeister, ed R. F. Baumeister (Routledge), 78–128.
- Bertrams, A., Baumeister, R. F., and Englert, C. (2016). Higher self-control capacity predicts lower anxiety-impaired cognition during math examinations. *Front. Psychol.* 7:485. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00485
- Carnevale, J. J., and Fujita, K. (2016). "Consensus versus anarchy in the senate of the mind: on the roles of high-level versus low-level construal in selfcontrol," in *Handbook of Self-Regulation: Research, Theory, and Applications, 3rd Edn.*, eds K. D. Vohs and R. F. Baumeister (New York, NY: Guilford Publications), 146–164.
- Englert, C. (2016). The strength model of self-control in sport and exercise psychology. *Front. Psychol.* 7:314. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00314
- Friese, M., Hofmann, W., and Wänke, M. (2008). When impulses take over: moderated predictive validity of explicit and implicit attitude measures in predicting food choice and consumption behaviour. *Brit. J. Soc. Psychol.* 47, 397–419. doi: 10.1348/014466607X241540
- Friese, M., Loschelder, D. D., Gieseler, K., Frankenbach, J., and Inzlicht, M. (2019). Is ego depletion real? An analysis of arguments. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 23, 107–131. doi: 10.1177/1088868318762183
- Fujita, K. (2011). On conceptualizing self-control as more than the effortful inhibition of impulses. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev. 15, 352–366. doi: 10.1177/1088868311411165
- Hagger, M. S., Wood, C., Stiff, C., and Chatzisarantis, N. L. D. (2010). Ego depletion and the strength model of self-control: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 136, 495–525. doi: 10.1037/a0019486
- Hedgcock, W. M., Vohs, K. D., and Rao, A. R. (2012). Reducing selfcontrol depletion effects through enhanced sensitivity to implementation: evidence from fMRI and behavioral studies. J. Consum. Psychol. 22, 486–495. doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2012.05.008

FUNDING

The author thankfully acknowledges open access publication funding from the Vilnius University.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Prof. Sigitas Urbonavicius and the reviewer for their valuable comments on an earlier version of this manuscript.

- Hofmann, W., Adriaanse, M., Vohs, K. D., and Baumeister, R. F. (2014). Dieting and the self-control of eating in everyday environments: an experience sampling study. Br. J. Health Psychol. 19, 523–539. doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12053
- Hofmann, W., Baumeister, R. F., Förster, G., and Vohs, K. D. (2012). Everyday temptations: an experience sampling study of desire, conflict, and self-control. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 102, 1318–1335. doi: 10.1037/a0026545
- Hofmann, W., Friese, M., and Strack, F. (2009). Impulse and self-control from a dual-systems perspective. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 4, 162–176. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6924.2009.01116.x
- Hofmann, W., Friese, M., and Wiers, R. W. (2008a). Impulsive versus reflective influences on health behavior: a theoretical framework and empirical review. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 2, 111–137. doi: 10.1080/17437190802617668
- Hofmann, W., and Kotabe, H. (2012). A general model of preventive and interventive self-control: PI-model of self-control. Soc. Personal. Psychol. Compass 6, 707–722. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9004.2012.00461.x
- Hofmann, W., Rauch, W., and Gawronski, B. (2007). And deplete us not into temptation: automatic attitudes, dietary restraint, and self-regulatory resources as determinants of eating behavior. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 43, 497–504. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2006.05.004
- Hofmann, W., Strack, F., and Deutsch, R. (2008b). Free to buy? Explaining selfcontrol and impulse in consumer behavior. J. Consum. Psychol. 18, 22–26. doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2007.10.005
- Kotabe, H. P., Righetti, F., and Hofmann, W. (2019). How anticipated emotions guide self-control judgments. *Front. Psychol.* 10:614. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01614
- Lamberton, C. (2020). Reflective self-control in self-control scholarship: a peircean analysis. J. Consum. Psychol. 30, 201–207. doi: 10.1002/jcpy.1144
- Moayery, M., Cantín, L. N., and Martíns, J. J. G. (2019a). How does selfcontrol operate? A focus on impulse Buying. *Psychol. Pap.* 40, 149–156. doi: 10.23923/pap.psicol2019.2893
- Moayery, M., Cantín, L. N., and Martíns, J. J. G. (2019b). Reflective and impulsive predictors of unhealthy snack impulse buying. *Rev. Market. Sci.* 16, 49–84. doi: 10.1515/roms-2018-0038
- Muraven, M., and Baumeister, R. F. (2000). Self-regulation and depletion of limited resources: does self-control resemble a muscle? *Psychol. Bull.* 126, 247–259. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.126.2.247
- Muraven, M., Collins, R. L., Shiffman, S., and Paty, J. A. (2005). Daily fluctuations in self-control demands and alcohol intake. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 19, 140–147. doi: 10.1037/0893-164X.19.2.140
- Murray, S. L., Pinkus, R. T., Holmes, J. G., Harris, B., Gomillion, S., Aloni, M., et al. (2011). Signaling when (and when not) to be cautious and self-protective: impulsive and reflective trust in close relationships. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 101, 485–502. doi: 10.1037/a0023233
- Neal, A., Ballard, T., and Vancouver, J. B. (2017). Dynamic selfregulation and multiple-goal pursuit. Annu. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 4, 401–423. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-113156
- Plassmann, H., and Mormann, M. (2017). An interdisciplinary lens on consciousness: the consciousness continuum and how to (not) study it in the brain and the gut, a commentary on Williams and Poehlman. J. Consum. Res. 44, 258–265. doi: 10.1093/jcr/ucx043
- Presseau, J., Johnston, M., Heponiemi, T., Elovainio, M., Francis, J. J., Eccles, M. P., et al. (2014). Reflective and automatic processes in health care professional

behaviour: a dual process model tested across multiple behaviours. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 48, 347–358. doi: 10.1007/s12160-014-9609-8

- Rebar, A. L., Dimmock, J. A., Jackson, B., Rhodes, R. E., Kates, A., Starling, J., et al. (2016). A systematic review of the effects of non-conscious regulatory processes in physical activity. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 10, 395–407. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2016.1183505
- Schmeichel, B. J., Vohs, K. D., and Baumeister, R. F. (2003). Intellectual performance and ego depletion: role of the self in logical reasoning and other information processing. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 85, 33–46. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.1.33
- Scopelliti, I., Vosgerau, J., and Huh, Y. E. (2020). Response to commentaries on the exerting self-control \neq sacrificing pleasure research dialogue. *J. Consum. Psychol.* 30, 215–216. doi: 10.1002/jcpy. 1141
- Spring, B., Champion, K. E., Acabchuk, R., and Hennessy, E. A. (2020). Self-regulatory behaviour change techniques in interventions to promote healthy eating, physical activity, or weight loss: a metareview. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 17, 1–32. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2020.17 21310
- Strack, F., Werth, L., and Deutsch, R. (2006). Reflective and impulsive determinants of consumer behavior. J. Consum. Psychol. 16, 205–216. doi: 10.1207/s15327663jcp1603_2
- Veling, H., Aarts, H., and Stroebe, W. (2011). Fear signals inhibit impulsive behavior toward rewarding food objects. *Appetite* 56, 643–648. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2011.02.018
- Vohs, K. D. (2006). Self-regulatory resources power the reflective system: evidence from five domains. J. Consum. Psychol. 16, 217–223. doi: 10.1207/s15327663jcp1603_3

- Vohs, K. D., and Faber, R. J. (2007). Spent resources: self-regulatory resource availability affects impulse buying. J. Consum. Res. 33, 537–547. doi: 10.1086/510228
- Vohs, K. D., Glass, B. D., Maddox, W. T., and Markman, A. B. (2011). Ego depletion is not just fatigue: evidence from a total sleep deprivation experiment. *Soc. Psychol. Personal. Sci.* 2, 166–173. doi: 10.1177/1948550610386123
- Vosgerau, J., Scopelliti, I., and Huh, Y. E. (2020). Exerting self-control ≠ sacrificing pleasure. J. Consum. Psychol. 30, 181–200. doi: 10.1002/jcpy.1142
- Wagner, D. D., and Heatherton, T. F. (2016). "The cognitive neuroscience of self-regulatory failure," in *Handbook of Self-Regulation. Research, Theory, and Applications*, 3rd ed., eds K. D. Vohs and R. F. Baumeister (New York, NY: Guilford Publications), 111–130.
- Williams, L. E., and Poehlman, T. A. (2017). Conceptualizing consciousness in consumer research. J. Consum. Res. 44, 231–251. doi: 10.1093/jcr/ucw043
- Yeung, N. (2014). "Conflict monitoring and cognitive control," in *The Oxford Handbook of Cognitive Neuroscience, Vol. 2, The Cutting Edges*, eds K. N. Ochsner and S. Kosslyn (Oxfford, UK: Oxford University Press), 275–299.

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Moayery. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Reliability of Online Surveys in Investigating Perceptions and Impressions of Faces

Naoyasu Hirao1*, Koyo Koizumi1, Hanako Ikeda1 and Hideki Ohira2

¹Shiseido Global Innovation Center, Yokohama-Shi, Japan, ²Department of Psychology, Graduate School of Informatics, Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan

Online experimental methods are used in psychological studies investigating the perceptions and impressions of facial photographs, even without substantial evidence supporting their reliability and validity. Although, the guality of visual stimuli is more difficult to control remotely, the methods might allow us to obtain a large amount of data. Then the statistical analysis of a larger volume of data may reduce errors and suggest significant difference in the stimuli. Therefore, we analyzed the reliability and validity of online surveys in investigating the perceptions (shine, red, and dark) and impressions (attractiveness, trustworthy, and so on) of facial photographs created from averaged faces with skin tones modified using computer graphics (CG). In this study, we conducted online (Online1) and laboratory experiments with well-controlled conditions (Control). For each experiment, 50 participants (men and women in Japan, age: 20-59 years) completed the same questionnaire regarding their impressions of the same 28 CG facial photographs. The results showed significant correlations between the two experiments for all 19 items in the guestionnaire. SD in the Online1 compared to the Control from the stimuli and individual differences were 56-84 and 88-104% in each questionnaire items, respectively. Moreover, the rates of mismatching perceptual evaluations to the corresponding physical features demonstrated in the photographs were 4.9–9.7% on average in an additional online survey of another 2,000 participants (Online2). These results suggest that online surveys can be applied to experiments to investigate impressions from CG facial photographs instead of general laboratory experiment by obtaining an appropriate number of participants to offset larger statistical errors that may result from the increased noise in the data from conducting the experiment online.

Keywords: face, impression, survey, online, reliability - reproducibility of results

INTRODUCTION

In studies of perception and impressions regarding faces, facial photographs have been used as stimuli in experiments that investigate visual illusions in facial perception (Baker et al., 2007; Matsushita et al., 2015) and the relationship between specific facial features and impressions of a person (Fink et al., 2006; Samson et al., 2010; Jaeger et al., 2018). In studies conducted in a laboratory, facial photographs are presented as printed media or on computer displays

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences (BAS), Bulgaria

Reviewed by:

Kok Wei Tan, University of Reading Malaysia, Malaysia Javier Villanueva-Valle, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico

> *Correspondence: Naoyasu Hirao naoyasu.hirao@shiseido.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Perception Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 June 2021 Accepted: 23 August 2021 Published: 22 September 2021

Citation:

Hirao N, Koizumi K, Ikeda H and Ohira H (2021) Reliability of Online Surveys in Investigating Perceptions and Impressions of Faces. Front. Psychol. 12:733405. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.733405

12

with controlled color and brightness and under well-controlled lighting conditions. This is because appropriate visual conditions of the stimuli are desirable for the participants to properly perceive their differences, reducing the noise in the evaluation.

With the widespread use of the Internet, online surveys allow participants to take part in research despite not being physically present in a laboratory. This is especially important advantage of online surveys during the current coronavirus pandemic as of course online surveys cut the risk of transmission of infectious disease. In online settings, the cost of recruiting participants and providing a suitable research location can be used to acquire a larger number of participants instead. Although, there is a potential disadvantage in this approach due to the increase the error in the evaluation of each stimulus (due to less control over visual stimuli among participants and the subsequent increase in individual differences.), the larger data sample may be an advantage in detecting evaluation differences within the stimuli because the SE is inversely proportional to the square of the sample size.

Some reports have investigated the reliability and validity of online surveys compared to their paper-based counterparts (Carrascosa et al., 2011) or compared to existing laboratory research (Crump et al., 2013) and the limitation of online versions (Alessi and Martin, 2010; Ball, 2019). For example, Crump et al. (2013) found that a variety of commonly used tasks performed online produced results broadly consistent with laboratory results. However, the validity and reliability of online surveys for investigating impressions from facial photographs remains unknown. This is important because, unlike linguistic stimuli, the subjective impression of a face photograph may change depending on conditions under which the photograph is viewed. For example, the radiance of a face can affect the impression of it (Ikeda et al., 2021). The radiance of the face can be affected by the room conditions and display screen conditions, neither of which can be controlled easily in an online experiment.

Therefore, we first investigated the difference between data from an online experiment (henceforth referred to as "Online1") and data from a typical experiment in a laboratory with wellcontrolled stimuli and experimental conditions, including lighting (henceforth referred to as "Control"). Specifically, the current study aimed to investigate the validity and reliability of an online survey of perception of and impressions formed by faces. We also attempted to calculate the necessary number of participants for an online survey if the same level of statistic reliability was required. In both experiments, 50 participants evaluated the same 28 computer graphics (CG) stimuli faces that varied by age, sex, and skin features. The faces were evaluated in 19 items of the questionnaire, which assessed the perceptual features and impressions using a five-point Likert scale. Then, the validity and reliability of the online surveys was evaluated by examining the correlations between the values evaluated in the two experiments. If the correlations of the data in online survey to a typical experiment in a laboratory with well-controlled stimuli are statistically significant, the online method could be regarded as valid because it suggests that online survey can provide the same data of evaluations. At the same time, the level of the contribution rates from the correlation analysis presented by the R^2 scores could suggest the reliability, which represents the stability of the results. Reliability in experimental data is not only dependent on the procedure to obtain the data but also the sample size because it is related to the statistical error. Therefore, based on the observed correlation coefficients, we can calculate the appropriate number of participants in a future online survey to maintain the same level of reliability based on the difference in the error due to the stimuli and the individual differences.

In addition, we also investigated the rates of mismatches in the physical features of the stimuli and the perceptual items. By examining these rates, it may be possible to find a limitation in the perception of the stimuli, which is dependent on the quality of the visual stimuli. As the number of participants in the Online1 (n=50), was not expected to be sufficient for this purpose, we conducted an additional online experiment with 2,000 participants, constituting "Online2." Online2 used the same methods as the original online experiment. We compared the rates of mismatches for participants by age and sex. If the rates were high in a certain group of participants and in certain items in the questionnaire, this would suggest a limitation of online experimentation of this type.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 100 healthy men and women living in Japan [50 men and 50 women, mean age: 39.9 years (11.1 SD)] participated in Online1 and Control; a separate group of 2,000 healthy men and women living in Japan [1,000 men and 1,000 women, mean age: 40.0 years (11.0 SD)] participated in Online2. Each participant indicated no optical disorders by self-report before the experiment and owned a personal computer or a tablet computer, excluding mobile phones with a small display, to participate in this experiment in Online1 and Online2. Each participate in the study. The Research Ethics Committee of the Shiseido Global Innovation Center approved this study, and all methods were conducted following approved guidelines.

Stimuli

Twenty-eight CG facial photographs were used as visual stimuli. These were divided into four groups according to age (20s vs. 40s) and sex (male vs. female). For each group of stimuli, there were seven photographs with different skin features (original averaged face, darker skin, brighter skin, redder skin, yellower skin, shiny skin, and matte skin). From eight facial photographs, four original averaged faces were created: Japanese men in their 20s, Japanese men in their 40s, Japanese women in their 20s, and Japanese women in their 40s. The darker and brighter faces were created from the original averaged face by making the skin tone darker or brighter by +2 or -2 SDs from L* on the cheek, based on the distribution of skin color from a previous experiment by the authors (unpublished). The red and yellow images were also created by adjusting the

color of the original face to +2 SD or -2 SDs based on the a^* and b^* distributions for red and yellow, respectively, from the same study. The shiny and matte images were created by a professional CG creator who altered the contrast of the skin color. Photoshop CS4 (version 11; Adobe Inc., 2008) was used in the process of creating the stimuli (Figure 1).

Questionnaire

Questionnaire items included three perceptual features that used bipolar scales (dark-bright, red-yellow, and shiny-matte) and 16 items regarding impressions of the face measured using monopole scales (trustworthy, honest, reliable, confident, attractive, likable, healthy, youthful, clean-cut, want to be, cool, energetic, polished, beautiful, good at work, and unisex). We selected six items (trustworthy, honest, reliable, confident, attractive, and likable) from a previous study as the basic impressions from appearance (Jaeger et al., 2018) and added the other 10 items. All questionnaire items used a five-point Likert scale, with scores ranging from -2 to +2. For example, the dark-bright dipole scale appeared as follows (translated from the original Japanese): +2, "match to dark"; +1, "a slight match to dark"; 0, neutral; -1, "match to bright"; and -2, "a slight match to bright." The monopole scale categories appeared as follows: +2, "I think so very much"; +1, "I think so"; 0, neutral; -1, "I do not think so"; and -2, "I do not think so very much."

Procedure

This study included an online experiment (Online1) and an experiment using printed photographs in a laboratory (Control).

In Online1, 50 participants looked at the stimuli on their personal computers or tablets and filled in the questionnaire at home. An in-house platform for online experiments was used. In the control condition, under well-controlled lighting, the other 50 participants were in the laboratory, looked at the same stimuli printed on paper $(210 \times 297 \text{ mm})$, and filled in the same questionnaire. In both of the experiments, participants filled in the list of three perceptual questionnaire items and the other 16 items of impressions after looking at one of visual stimuli at their own pace in a block. They repeated 28 blocks for each visual stimulus assigned to each of them. The orders of stimuli and the questionnaire items in each of perceptions and impressions were also randomized.

After the two experiments, we conducted an additional online experiment with additional participants using the same method as Online1, the 28 original stimuli, and the three perceptional items of the questionnaire; this constituted Online2. In the three experiments, the participants were divided into two groups. The first group evaluated 14 stimuli portraying males and females in their 20s, while the second group evaluated 14 stimuli portraying males and females in their 40s.

Statistical Analysis

The average scores for both Online1 and Control groups were calculated for each item. To investigate the validity of the Online1, the tests of significance were applied to Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficients for the 28 scores between the two experiments, with a criterion of $\alpha = 0.05$. Furthermore, the ratios of SDs of Online1 vs. Control conditions



were calculated both for the differences in the stimuli (a=ratio of the SDs of the scores averaged for the 28 stimuli for the 50 participants) and the individual participants (b=ratio of the averaged SDs of 28 stimuli for the 50 participants) to calculate the ratio of the required sample size in a future online experiment and match the effect sizes in the control using the formula b²/a².

As for the analysis of Online2, the calculated total rates of mismatched answers between the physical features (e.g., the rate calculated from the number of participants who evaluated the CG face of dark skin brighter compared to the brighter skin CG face) were averaged for the four types of stimuli (CG facial photographs: darker skin vs. brighter skin, red skin vs. yellow skin, and shiny skin vs. matte skin). The values suggest how precisely participants perceive the optical features in the visual stimuli. The perceptual evaluations associated with items in the questionnaire (dark-bright, red-yellow, and shiny-matte) for each age group (20s, 30s, 40s, and 50s) and participant gender groups (male and female) were also calculated. The difference in the ratios among the groups was examined using the chi-square test (α =0.05).

RESULTS

Testing Validity

The validity of Online1 was tested by correlating the results with that of Control. The correlations of the tested items between Online1 and Control were statistically significant for all the 19 items (p < 0.01; **Table 1**; **Figure 2**), suggesting that Online1 result was valid.

Estimating Number of Participants Needed for Reliability

The ratio of the estimated participants in the online survey compared to the controlled experiments to maintain the same level of error was calculated by the formula b^2/a^2 for each questionnaire item. a was the ratios of SDs of the averaged scores for the 28 stimuli for the 50 participants for Online1 compared to Control. These ratios ranged from 56 to 84%. All 19 questionnaire items had significantly smaller SDs in Online1 than Control in the chi-square test $(\chi^2 = 19.0, df = 1, p < 0.001)$. b was the ratio of average SDs of the 28 stimuli for the 50 participants for Online1 compared to Control. These ratios ranged from 88 to 104%. Also, the number of questionnaire items with a smaller average SD in the Online1 was 15 of 19, which was statistically significant in the chi-square test ($\chi^2 = 6.37$, df = 1, p = 0.012; Table 1). The values of b^2/a^2 ranged from 1.3 to 2.6 for each item, suggesting that online experiments may need 1.3-2.6 times the number of participants to obtain a comparable result as a laboratory experiment.

Mismatched Answers Between the Physical Features

Moreover, we investigated the differences in the mismatch rates of perceptions within the participant groups to investigate whether there are any limitations in a specific category of participants. The values of the mismatch rates suggest the rates of participants who did not perceive and evaluate the physical features of stimuli precisely. In the results from Online2, the rates of mismatch between the physical features

TABLE 1 | Correlations and differences of errors for each item for the Online1 and Control conditions.

Questionnair	e items	Correlation between online and control	SD calculate	d from average stimuli	d scores of 28	Averaged s	score of 28 stim participants	uli SDs of 50
		R ²	Online1	Control	Ratio (O/C)	Online1	Control	Ratio (O/C
Perception	Shine	0.951*	0.523	0.710	73.7%	0.884	0.945	93.6%
	Red	0.931*	0.506	0.701	72.1%	0.819	0.910	90.0%
	Dark	0.911*	0.568	0.808	70.2%	0.895	0.949	94.3%
Impression	Clean-cut	0.742*	0.345	0.489	70.5%	0.859	0.857	100.2%
	Like	0.731*	0.265	0.463	57.2%	0.854	0.965	88.5%
	Want to be	0.707*	0.249	0.446	55.7%	0.908	0.980	92.7%
	Attractiveness	0.678*	0.250	0.444	56.4%	0.847	0.926	91.5%
	Good at work	0.647*	0.263	0.349	75.4%	0.849	0.813	104.4%
	Beautiful	0.646*	0.309	0.520	59.4%	0.894	0.919	97.2%
	Honest	0.637*	0.274	0.376	73.0%	0.850	0.815	104.2%
	Trustworthy	0.615*	0.269	0.359	74.9%	0.827	0.790	104.8%
	Youthful	0.614*	0.276	0.405	68.0%	0.897	0.927	96.7%
	Cool	0.554*	0.192	0.293	65.6%	0.843	0.940	89.7%
	Polished	0.532*	0.267	0.437	61.1%	0.836	0.891	93.8%
	Healthy	0.496*	0.277	0.381	72.7%	0.893	0.978	91.3%
	Reliable	0.483*	0.264	0.314	84.1%	0.845	0.888	95.2%
	Unisex	0.326*	0.185	0.351	52.7%	0.867	0.958	90.5%
	Confident	0.289*	0.259	0.343	75.7%	0.840	0.909	92.3%
	Energetic	0.240*	0.226	0.325	69.4%	0.836	1.014	82.4%

*p<0.01.

O/C: ratios of the Online1 to the Control.

(darker skin vs. brighter skin, red skin vs. yellow skin, and shiny skin vs. matte skin) and the evaluations (dark-bright, red-yellow, and shiny-matte) were 4.9, 5.9, and 9.3%, respectively (**Table 2**). The differences within the four age groups regarding the mismatch rate were not significant according to the chi-square tests for the three questionnaire items. However, the difference between the male and female participants for the "shiny skin vs. matte skin" item was statistically significant for the chi-square test ($\chi^2 = 12.10$, df = 1, p < 0.001; **Table 2**). The difference may suggest a limitation in the reliability of the data in specific segments of the participants.



TABLE 2 | The rates of inversely matching physical features to perceptual evaluations in the Online2.

Matching of st	timuli features and answers			Participant characteristics						
	Age and sex groups	20s	30s	40s	50s	Male	Female	Total		
	Number of participants	500	500	500	500	1,000	1,000	2,000		
Dark vs. Bright	Did not evaluate the dark item as darker rather than brighter	5.0%	5.6%	3.9%	5.2%	5.5%	4.4%	4.9%		
	Evaluated the image as equally dark and bright	13.2%	13.8%	11.6%	15.2%	14.3%	12.6%	13.5%		
	Evaluated the dark item as darker rather than brighter	81.8%	80.6%	84.5%	79.6%	80.2%	83.1%	81.6%		
Red vs. Yellow	Did not evaluate the red item as redder than yellower	5.6%	6.4%	5.5%	6.0%	6.5%	5.3%	5.9%		
	Evaluated the image as equally red and yellow	20.3%	21.5%	21.0%	23.4%	22.9%	20.3%	21.6%		
	Evaluated the red item as redder than the yellower	74.1%	72.1%	73.5%	70.6%	70.7%	74.5%	72.6%		
Shiny vs. Matte		10.0%	9.6%	9.5%	8.0%	11.0%	7.6%	9.3%		
	Evaluated the image as equally shiny and matte	20.8%	25.1%	23.7%	26.0%	27.5%	20.3%	23.9%		
	Evaluated the shine item shiner than matter	69.2%	65.3%	66.8%	66.0%	61.6%	72.1%	66.8%		

DISCUSSION

In the current study, we investigated the reliability and validity of an online survey of perceptions and impressions of faces, by examining correlations between face evaluations obtained in an online survey (Online1) with face evaluations obtained in a well-controlled laboratory setting (Control), and estimating the number of participants needed for to maintain reliability and examining mismatch rates of perceptions in a larger online survey (Online2). We found positive correlations between Online1 and control experimental data for all the questionnaire items, suggesting that online survey is valid, but that the number of participants needed is 1.3–2.6 times that of a laboratory survey. In addition, there were generally low rates of mismatch.

The positive correlations suggest that the online survey and the general laboratory survey produced comparable results. The values of R^2 between the Online1 and Control suggested moderate or low correlations for the items regarding impression (0.240–0.742) compared to items regarding perceptions (0.911– 0.951). Nonetheless, because values of R^2 are dependent on SDs in the differences of the stimuli, which, even in the general survey, were smaller for the items of impressions based on the perceptions in the information processing than the evaluation of the perceptions themselves. These results support the validity of online surveys.

Regarding reliability, the differences in the average scores of the stimuli were smaller in the online than in the control group for all items. This suggests that the online survey requires a larger sample size than the traditional, well-controlled lab-based survey. The required online sample size was estimated to be 1.3–2.6 times larger compared to the control based on the difference of errors within the two methods from the differences of stimuli and individual differences; these values may vary based on additional data and may depend on specific methods. Namely, differences in the stimuli were difficult to observe because of difficulty controlling the quality of visual stimuli in an online survey; however, this can be partially overcome by increasing the sample size.

The mismatching rates found in Online2 were less than 10% suggesting that participants had no difficulty in perceiving the online face stimuli. However, the mismatch rate between men and women was different for the item regarding shinymatte skin. It is unclear however, if this mismatch rate difference indicates a genuine sex based difference in perception of the shiny/matte appearance of online face photographs or simply a difference in understanding of the meanings of the words in the participant segments, which may be the case in the original Japanese word used for shiny.

In other words, the current study overall supports the use of online surveys for testing the perception and impressions of face stimuli. However, it should be noted, that differences in the results of online and laboratory surveys may arise depending on the method used to recruit participants and several other factors, including their subsequent comprehension of the survey, possible deception in their answers, and communication with the researchers (Zhou and Fishbach, 2016). Online surveys using visual stimuli can also be limited by the characteristics of devices used by participants; device type should thus be considered carefully, especially in experiments using a between-subject design. Although, the types of devices used were limited to personal and tablet computers in the current surveys, the differences between groups in the scores might also be influenced by the bias of the device types used within specific consumer segments.

In addition, in the current study all participants were Japanese and evaluated CG Japanese faces. Though, we found no evidence that the different skin colors were affected

differently by the lack of control over e.g., room brightness in the online tests, further research is needed to determine if this can be generalized to more diverse groups of participants and face stimuli.

The results in the current study suggest that online surveys can be applied to experiments to investigate impressions from CG facial photographs instead of general laboratory experiment, with the caveat that the number of participants should be increased. Although, there are some potential limitations in online surveys, they may potentially play a significant role as a substitute for laboratory experiments regarding the perception of faces. The benefits may outweigh the potential limitations especially during the current pandemic. The current study adds to the growing list of reports in behavioral science (Chesney et al., 2009; Crump et al., 2013; Hergueux and Jacquemet, 2015) and psychophysics (Semmelmann and Weigelt, 2017) that support the use of online experimental methods. Online surveys appear to be an effective method for investigating the perception and impression of faces using photographs.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available due to confidentiality agreements with the participants; the data in this study are available only at the Shiseido Global

REFERENCES

- Alessi, E. J., and Martin, J. I. (2010). Conducting an internet-based survey: benefits, pitfalls, and lessons learned. Soc. Work Res. 34, 122–128. doi: 10.1093/swr/34.2.122
- Baker, S. B., Dayan, J. H., Crane, A., and Kim, S. (2007). The influence of brow shape on the perception of facial form and brow aesthetics. *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 119, 2240–2247. doi: 10.1097/01.prs.0000260771.76102.6c
- Ball, H. L. (2019). Conducting online surveys. J. Hum. Lact. 35, 413–417. doi: 10.1177/0890334419848734
- Carrascosa, R. G., Segovia, P. G., and Monzó, J. M. (2011). Paper and pencil vs online self-administered food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) applied to university population: a pilot study. *Nutr. Hosp.* 26, 1378–1384. doi: 10.1590/ S0212-16112011000600027
- Chesney, T., Chuah, S. H., and Hoffmann, R. (2009). Virtual world experimentation: an exploratory study. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 72, 618–635. doi: 10.1016/j. jebo.2009.05.026
- Crump, M. J. C., McDonnell, J. V., and Gureckis, T. M. (2013). Evaluating amazon's mechanical turk as a tool for experimental behavioral research. *PLoS One* 8:e57410. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057410
- Fink, B., Grammer, K., and Matts, P. (2006). Visible skin color distribution plays a role in the perception of age, attractiveness, and health in female faces. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 27, 433–442. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2006.08.007
- Hergueux, J., and Jacquemet, N. (2015). Social preferences in the online laboratory: a randomized experiment. *Exp. Econ.* 18, 251–283. doi: 10.1007/s10683-014-9400-5
- Ikeda, H., Saheki, Y., Sakano, Y., Wada, A., Ando, H., and Tagai, K. (2021). Facial radiance influences facial attractiveness and affective impressions of faces. *Int. J. Cosmet. Sci.* 43, 144–157. doi: 10.1111/ics.12673
- Jaeger, B., Wagemans, F. M. A., Evans, A. M., and van Beest, I. (2018). Effects of facial skin smoothness and blemishes on trait impressions. *Perception* 47, 608–625. doi: 10.1177/0301006618767258

Innovation Center. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to naoyasu.hirao@shiseido.com.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Research Ethics Committee of the Shiseido Global Innovation Center. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NH, KK, HI, and HO contributed to conception design of the study. NH and KK performed the statistical analysis. NH wrote the first draft of the manuscript by the support of HI. HO checked and revised the manuscript as the senior author. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The present work was funded by the Shiseido Global Innovation Center.

- Matsushita, S., Morikawa, K., and Yamanami, H. (2015). Measurement of eye size illusion caused by eyeliner, mascara, and eye shadow. J. Cosmet. Sci. 66, 161–174.
- Samson, N., Fink, B., and Matts, P. J. (2010). Visible skin condition and perception of human facial appearance. *Int. J. Cosmet. Sci.* 32, 167–184. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2494.2009.00535.x
- Semmelmann, K., and Weigelt, S. (2017). Online psychophysics: reaction time effects in cognitive experiments. *Behav. Res. Methods* 49, 1241–1260. doi: 10.3758/s13428-016-0783-4
- Zhou, H., and Fishbach, A. (2016). The pitfall of experimenting on the web: how unattended selective attrition leads to surprising (yet false) research conclusions. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 111, 493–504. doi: 10.1037/pspa0000056

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Hirao, Koizumi, Ikeda and Ohira. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Perceptual Awareness Negativity—Does It Reflect Awareness or Attention?

Michał Bola* and Łucja Doradzińska

Laboratory of Brain Imaging, Nencki Institute of Experimental Biology of Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland

Keywords: consciousness, attention, ERP, awareness, visual perception

INTRODUCTION

Identifying the neural correlates of consciousness (NCC) is one of the most important endeavors in neuroscience. A key debate concerns the question whether conscious experience is generated by the early activity of the sensory cortex, or rather by later activity of the supra-modal parietal and frontal cortices. Initial research using the event-related potentials (ERP) technique supported the "late" view, with many studies concluding that the P3b ERP component - a positive wave occurring over centro-parietal regions around 300-500 ms after the stimulus - reflects the mechanism of consciousness (review: Dehaene and Changeux, 2011). However, more recent work reveals, first, that some clearly perceived stimuli do not evoke P3b, meaning this component is not necessary for consciousness; and second, that P3b can be evoked or modulated by subliminal stimuli, which indicates it is not sufficient either. Along with this evidence challenging P3b as NCC, several lines of research have provided strong support for the "early" view. Specifically, a growing body of evidence shows that becoming aware of a stimulus is reliably associated with a negative-going ERP component observed as early as 150-250 ms after the stimulus onset over the modality-specific sensory regions. Such awareness-related negative components have been found in visual, auditory, and somatosensory modalities, and therefore an overarching term Perceptual Awareness Negativity (PAN) has been recently proposed (Dembski et al., 2021).

Recent progress in investigating the mechanisms of perceptual awareness using ERPs has been reviewed by Förster et al. (2020) and Dembski et al. (2021). Both reviews argue that there is enough evidence to falsify P3b as a marker of consciousness, and conclude that PAN is at present the best candidate for NCC. While we generally agree with their view, in this opinion piece we point out that a key challenge faced by the proponents of early NCC is disentangling mechanisms of consciousness from mechanisms of attention. Assuming that PAN reflects the phenomenal aspect of consciousness (Koivisto et al., 2017; Derda et al., 2019), which is by definition orthogonal to attention (Lamme, 2003), dissociating ERP correlates of both processes should be in principle possible. However, we think that conclusive evidence for such a dissociation has not been provided so far and, what is more, a body of data suggests PAN might be in fact closely related to attention.

ERP MARKERS OF AWARENESS AND ATTENTION

Neural mechanisms of spatial and feature-based attention share many similarities with the postulated early NCC - both are rapid, often automatic, and operate in the sensory cortex *via* feedback connections (Koch and Tsuchiya, 2007; Moore and Zirnsak, 2017). In fact, electrophysiological research has consistently shown that allocating visual attention to a given stimulus is reflected by a more negative component detected at the parieto-occipital electrodes

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences (BAS), Bulgaria

Reviewed by: Felix Blankenburg, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany

> *Correspondence: Michał Bola m.bola@nencki.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sensory Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Human Neuroscience

Received: 16 July 2021 Accepted: 20 September 2021 Published: 14 October 2021

Citation:

Bola M and Doradzińska Ł (2021) Perceptual Awareness Negativity—Does It Reflect Awareness or Attention? Front. Hum. Neurosci. 15:742513. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2021.742513

19

around 200 ms after the stimulus (*selection negativity*, SN; Harter and Aine, 1984), which is particularly prominent contralaterally to the stimulus presentation (*N2 posterior-contralateral*, N2pc; Eimer, 1996). Thus, both visual PAN and attention-related negativity are detected at the same electrodes and in the same time-window, and both are most prominent in the contralateral hemisphere - the only difference is that PAN is defined in relation to activity evoked by unconscious stimuli, while attentionrelated components in relation to the activity evoked by taskirrelevant stimuli (i.e., presented in irrelevant locations or lacking relevant features). But the fact that these components are defined in relation to a different baseline does not preclude that they are generated by the same source and reflect the same underlying process.

The relation between feature-based attention and early NCC has been investigated by several studies. In the early work of Koivisto et al. PAN was repeatedly observed in response to all aware stimuli - both task-relevant targets and task-irrelevant distractors - irrespective of their status (Koivisto et al., 2005, 2006, 2009; Koivisto and Revonsuo, 2007). These observations suggested that PAN is encapsulated from the influence of featurebased attention and the cognitive aspects of processing, and thus taken as evidence that it represents phenomenal awareness. However, we think these conclusions should be treated with caution as, first, the discussed studies tested small groups of participants by today's standard (between 10 and 12); and second, on a non-significant ANOVA interaction (between stimulus relevance and awareness), whereas such absence of evidence cannot be treated as evidence of no effect (Wagenmakers et al., 2018). More recent studies reported that PAN is indeed evoked by task-irrelevant distractors, in line with results of Koivisto and colleagues; but found also that task-relevant stimuli evoke PAN of significantly greater amplitude than the task-irrelevant ones (Pitts et al., 2014; Shafto and Pitts, 2015; Schelonka et al., 2017). This strongly suggests that PAN is influenced by the taskrelated factors, and thus challenges earlier conclusions of Koivisto et al. (2005, 2006, 2009). Yet, it is worth emphasizing that some early studies observed differences in the spatio-temporal profiles of awareness- and attention-related early ERP effects (Koivisto et al., 2005; Koivisto and Revonsuo, 2007). Thus, in such a scenario greater PAN to task-relevant stimuli will reflect an overlap of two independent components [as discussed by Pitts et al. (2014)]. Therefore, the putative functional dissociation of awareness and feature-based attention should be the focus of future studies.

In another study Koivisto et al. (2009) investigated how PAN interacts with the top-down spatial attention. Stimuli were displayed either in the attended or in the unattended visual field, and participants were either aware or unaware of their presentation. Quite strikingly, clearly visible stimuli did not evoke PAN when displayed in the unattended visual field. This result is in line with an earlier study, in which PAN was greatly reduced in a passive viewing condition, which did not require focused attention (Koivisto and Revonsuo, 2008). While these findings might indicate that attention is a prerequisite of consciousness, as argued by Koivisto et al. (2009), such an interpretation will be difficult to reconcile with the assumption that PAN reflects an elementary phenomenal experience (e.g., Koivisto et al., 2017). Because implications of the Koivisto et al. (2009) study are of crucial importance, we argue that the relation between spatial attention and early NCC should be further investigated.

While so far we have discussed to what extent PAN is influenced by the top-down feature-based or spatial attention, another question is whether the same type of activity can be evoked by unconscious stimuli that are salient or task-relevant. This question is of particular importance, since the attentionrelated early negative components can be evoked by unconscious stimuli (Koivisto and Revonsuo, 2007; Travis et al., 2019; Bola et al., 2021). But finding that PAN can be evoked or modulated unconsciously would falsify this component as an NCC (similarly to P3b; Silverstein et al., 2015; Doradzińska et al., 2020) and might suggest it is more closely related to attentional prioritization. It is thus important to point out that Koivisto and Grassini (2016) found that unaware but correct trials - those in which participants reported not seeing a stimulus but provided a correct response in a forced-choice task - were characterized by more negative amplitude in the PAN spatio-temporal window, in comparison to unaware and incorrect trials. They interpreted this effect as reflecting residual awareness in the "unaware" but correct trials, not reported by some participants due to a conservative bias. But an equally likely interpretation is that PAN might reflect greater involvement of attention and more extensive processing in some of the unaware trials, and thus that it can be evoked outside of awareness. Of note, a similar effect has been observed by Eklund and Wiens (2018; see their Figure 2), but it was not analyzed statistically¹. We understand that the main argument against our reasoning might be as follows: PAN is defined as a difference between aware and unaware presentations, and thus there is no such thing as an "unconscious PAN"; but we again emphasize, that such a definition does not preclude the very same type of activity that constitutes PAN to be related to other mechanisms and thus be observed in other comparisons. Testing this possibility will be crucial for establishing PAN as NCC. Therefore, future research should identify the sources or spatio-temporal filters representing PAN according to the classic definition (i.e., comparison between aware and unaware trials) and then apply them to compare activity observed in the unconscious conditions, for instance evoked by salient and neutral subliminal stimuli. Such a research strategy will allow determining whether the "PAN-like" negativity seen in the unconscious trials reflects the same process as the classically defined PAN.

Importantly, while results discussed so far cast doubt on the function of PAN as a marker of awareness, the exact function of attention-related components is also a matter of

¹Interestingly, PAN differed between correct and incorrect unaware trials in studies of Koivisto and Grassini (2016) and Eklund and Wiens (2018), in which stimuli were presented centrally (always in the same location); but not in the studies of Lamy et al. (2009) and Salti et al. (2012), in which stimuli were presented in one of the uncued peripheral locations. Our putative interpretation is that in the latter studies the top-down spatial attention was not sufficiently involved and therefore PAN was not observed [in line with results of the Koivisto et al. (2009) study, discussed in the previous paragraph].

debate. For instance, while N2pc is classically interpreted as reflecting attention shifts, robust N2pc has been repeatedly observed without an accompanying behavioral effect of attention (Kappenman et al., 2014). Further, N2pc is unaffected by attentional cueing - its amplitude is the same in response to stimuli presented in the cued and uncued locations (Brisson and Jolicoeur, 2008; Kiss et al., 2008). Both findings suggest a possibility that N2pc does not reflect attention shifts per se, but rather a different, co-occurring process. In line with this hypothesis, recent data indicates that N2pc might rather represent engagement of attention in binding and integration of features (Zivony et al., 2018). Indeed, in a change blindness study PAN was related to a mere detection that something has changed, while N2pc occurred only when subjects were able to identify a change (Busch et al., 2010). If N2pc is indeed a marker of binding and integration of information then many electrophysiological findings interpreted as reflecting mechanisms of attention might, in some way, be more closely related to the mechanism of consciousness (Mudrik et al., 2014).

Finally, while in this commentary we focus on discussing attention and consciousness in the visual domain, one of the key arguments of Dembski et al. (2021) is that PAN is common across modalities - visual, auditory, and somatosensory - and can be observed in respective sensory cortices. Here we want to emphasize two points. First, because the attentionrelated negativity occurs also in the auditory domain (Alho et al., 1987; Gamble and Luck, 2011; Luck and Kappenman, 2012), the discussed relation between neural correlates of attention and consciousness should be investigated also in the auditory, and in other modalities. Second, the modalityspecific neural mechanisms are expected for attention, the role of which is to prioritize stimuli from a particular modality. But in case NCC a mechanism integrating these unimodal experiences into a supra-modal, coherent, and unified conscious experience must be proposed (Mudrik et al., 2014). Because such a mechanism has so far not been proposed or investigated in the context of PAN, this might be considered a theoretical argument against early NCC in general, and PAN in particular.

REFERENCES

- Alho, K., Donauer, N., Paavilainen, P., Reinikainen, K., Sams, M., and Näätänen, R. (1987). Stimulus selection during auditory spatial attention as expressed by event-related potentials. *Biol. Psychol.* 24, 153–162. doi: 10.1016/0301-0511(87)90 022-6
- Bola, M., Paz, M., Doradzińska, Ł., and Nowicka, A. (2021). The selfface captures attention without consciousness: Evidence from the N2pc ERP component analysis. *Psychophysiology* 58:e13759. doi: 10.1111/psyp. 13759
- Brisson, B., and Jolicoeur, P. (2008). Express attentional re-engagement but delayed entry into consciousness following invalid spatial cues in visual search. *PLoS ONE* 3:e3967. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003967
- Busch, N. A., Fründ, I., and Herrmann, C. S. (2010). Electrophysiological evidence for different types of change detection and change blindness. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22, 1852–1869. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21294

CONCLUSIONS

Förster et al. (2020) and Dembski et al. (2021) provided a detailed overview of the recent electrophysiological research on NCC. Both reviews concluded that a robust body of evidence supports the early Perceptual Awareness Negativity (PAN) as an ERP correlate of consciousness. While we agree that PAN is at present the most promising candidate for NCC, in this opinion article we have discussed evidence indicating that PAN might be closely related to mechanisms of attention. Relevant data is at present scarce, but there is evidence indacting PAN is not necessary for consciousness (Koivisto et al., 2009), and that it might not be sufficient either (Koivisto and Grassini, 2016; Eklund and Wiens, 2018). These effects have so far not been discussed critically but, if further confirmed, they might challenge the dominant interpretation of PAN as a correlate of phenomenal awareness. Therefore, an important message of the present article is that a falsification-based approach should be more often embraced when investigating PAN, similarly as has been done in case of P3b.

In conclusion, while proponents of the "early" view have falsified the P3b component as an NCC by showing that it reflects mainly task-related cognitive processing, they now face a challenge of proving that "A" in PAN indeed stands for awareness and not attention.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB and ŁD discussed the presented ideas. MB drafted the initial version. All authors revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Science Center Poland (Grants Nos.: 2018/29/B/HS6/02152 and 2019/33/B/HS6/02233).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Monika Derda for insightful comments on an earlier version of the manuscript.

- Dehaene, S., and Changeux, J. P. (2011). Experimental and theoretical approaches to conscious processing. *Neuron* 70, 200–227. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.03.018
- Dembski, C., Koch, C., and Pitts, M. (2021). Perceptual awareness negativity: a physiological correlate of sensory consciousness. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 25, 660–670. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2021.05.009
- Derda, M., Koculak, M., Windey, B., Gociewicz, K., Wierzchoń, M., Cleeremans, A., et al. (2019). The role of levels of processing in disentangling the ERP signatures of conscious visual processing. *Conscious. Cogn.* 73:102767. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2019.102767
- Doradzińska, Ł., Wójcik, M. J., Paz, M., Nowicka, M. M., Nowicka, A., and Bola, M. (2020). Unconscious perception of one's own name modulates amplitude of the P3B ERP component. *Neuropsychologia* 147:107564. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2020.107564
- Eimer, M. (1996). The N2pc component as an indicator of attentional selectivity. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 99, 225–234. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(96)95711-9

- Eklund, R., and Wiens, S. (2018). Visual awareness negativity is an early neural correlate of awareness: A preregistered study with two Gabor sizes. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 18, 176–188. doi: 10.3758/s13415-018-0562-z
- Förster, J., Koivisto, M., and Revonsuo, A. (2020). ERP and MEG correlates of visual consciousness: The second decade. *Conscious. Cogn.* 80:102917. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2020.102917
- Gamble, M. L., and Luck, S. J. (2011). N2ac: An ERP component associated with the focusing of attention within an auditory scene. *Psychophysiology* 48, 1057–1068. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01172.x
- Harter, M. R., and Aine, C. J. (1984). "Brain mechanisms of visual selective attention," in *Varieties of Attention*, eds R. Parasuraman and D. R. Davies (New York, NY: Academic Press).
- Kappenman, E. S., Farrens, J. L., Luck, S. J., and Proudfit, G. H. (2014). Behavioral and ERP measures of attentional bias to threat in the dot-probe task: Poor reliability and lack of correlation with anxiety. *Front. Psychol.* 5:1368. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01368
- Kiss, M., Van Velzen, J., and Eimer, M. (2008). The N2pc component and its links to attention shifts and spatially selective visual processing. *Psychophysiology* 45, 240–249. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00611.x
- Koch, C., and Tsuchiya, N. (2007). Attention and consciousness: two distinct brain processes. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 11, 16–22. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2006.10.012
- Koivisto, M., and Grassini, S. (2016). Neural processing around 200 ms after stimulus-onset correlates with subjective visual awareness. *Neuropsychologia* 84, 235–243. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.02.024
- Koivisto, M., Grassini, S., Salminen-Vaparanta, N., and Revonsuo, A. (2017). Different electrophysiological correlates of visual awareness for detection and identification. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 29, 1621–1163. doi: 10.1162/jocn_a_01149
- Koivisto, M., Kainulainen, P., and Revonsuo, A. (2009). The relationship between awareness and attention: evidence from ERP responses. *Neuropsychologia* 47, 2891–2899. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.06.016
- Koivisto, M., and Revonsuo, A. (2007). Electrophysiological correlates of visual consciousness and selective attention. *Neuroreport* 18, 753–756. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e3280c143c8
- Koivisto, M., and Revonsuo, A. (2008). The role of selective attention in visual awareness of stimulus features: electrophysiological studies. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 8, 195–210. doi: 10.3758/CABN.8.2.195
- Koivisto, M., Revonsuo, A., and Lehtonen, M. (2006). Independence of visual awareness from the scope of attention: an electrophysiological study. *Cereb. Cortex* 16, 415–424. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhi121
- Koivisto, M., Revonsuo, A., and Salminen, N. (2005). Independence of visual awareness from attention at early processing stages. *Neuroreport* 16, 817–821. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200505310-00008
- Lamme, V. A. (2003). Why visual attention and awareness are different. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 7, 12–18. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(02)00013-X
- Lamy, D., Salti, M., and Bar-Haim, Y. (2009). Neural correlates of subjective awareness and unconscious processing: an ERP study. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 21, 1435–1446. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21064
- Luck, S. J., and Kappenman, E. S. (2012). "ERP components and selective attention," in *The Oxford Handbook of Event-Related Potential Components*. eds S. J. Luck and E. S. Kappenman (Oxford: Oxford University Press). doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195374148.013.0144

- Moore. Т., and Zirnsak, M. (2017).Neural mechanisms of selective visual attention. Annu. Rev. Psvchol. 68, 47-72. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-122414-033400
- Mudrik, L., Faivre, N., and Koch, C. (2014). Information integration without awareness. Trends Cogn. Sci. 18, 488–496. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2014.04.009
- Pitts, M. A., Metzler, S., and Hillyard, S. A. (2014). Isolating neural correlates of conscious perception from neural correlates of reporting one's perception. *Front. Psychol.* 5:1078. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01078
- Salti, M., Bar-Haim, Y., and Lamy, D. (2012). The P3 component of the ERP reflects conscious perception, not confidence. *Conscious. Cogn.* 21, 961–968. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2012.01.012
- Schelonka, K., Graulty, C., Canseco-Gonzalez, E., and Pitts, M. A. (2017). ERP signatures of conscious and unconscious word and letter perception in an inattentional blindness paradigm. *Conscious. Cogn.* 54, 56–71. doi:10.1016/j.concog.2017.04.009
- Shafto, J. P., and Pitts, M. A. (2015). Neural signatures of conscious face perception in an inattentional blindness paradigm. J. Neurosci. 35, 10940–10948. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0145-15.2015
- Silverstein, B. H., Snodgrass, M., Shevrin, H., and Kushwaha, R. (2015). P3b, consciousness, and complex unconscious processing. *Cortex* 73, 216–227. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2015.09.004
- Travis, S. L., Dux, P. E., and Mattingley, J. B. (2019). Neural correlates of goal-directed enhancement and suppression of visual stimuli in the absence of conscious perception. *Attent. Percept. Psychophys.* 81, 1346–1364. doi: 10.3758/s13414-018-1615-7
- Wagenmakers, E. J., Marsman, M., Jamil, T., Ly, A., Verhagen, J., Love, J., et al. (2018). Bayesian inference for psychology. Part I: Theoretical advantages and practical ramifications. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 25, 35–57. doi: 10.3758/s13423-017-1343-3
- Zivony, A., Allon, A. S., Luria, R., and Lamy, D. (2018). Dissociating between the N2pc and attentional shifting: An attentional blink study. *Neuropsychologia* 121, 153–163. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018. 11.003

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Bola and Doradzińska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Consciousness Science Needs Some Rest: How to Use Resting-State Paradigm to Improve Theories and Measures of Consciousness

Marcin Koculak^{1,2*} and Michał Wierzchoń^{1,2}

¹ Consciousness Lab, Institute of Psychology, Jagiellonian University, Krakow, Poland, ² Centre for Brain Research, Jagiellonian University, Krakow, Poland

Keywords: consciousness, resting-state, neuroimaging, neural correlates of consciousness, state, content

INTRODUCTION

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Morten Overgaard, Aarhus University, Denmark

Reviewed by:

Arun Sasidharan, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences, India

*Correspondence: Marcin Koculak marcin.koculak@doctoral.uj.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Perception Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 15 December 2021 Accepted: 07 February 2022 Published: 29 March 2022

Citation:

Koculak M and Wierzchoń M (2022) Consciousness Science Needs Some Rest: How to Use Resting-State Paradigm to Improve Theories and Measures of Consciousness. Front. Neurosci. 16:836758. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.836758 The discovery of a brain network that is systematically deactivated during task execution while staying active when participants have no task to perform has instigated a new area of studies (default mode network; Raichle et al., 2001). It also imposed on neuroscience a particular dichotomous view of brain activity seen as the constant transitions between a reflexive mode (captured as the neural activity during a task) and a default mode (reflecting intrinsic brain activity; Callard and Margulies, 2011). The first can be studied with various cognitive tasks. The second is most pronounced when the participants are not receiving any external stimulation and have no straightforward task. This so-called "resting-state" (RS) paradigm became the most widely used method to capture the intrinsic, default activity of the brain. It is often treated as a baseline condition (Gusnard and Raichle, 2001) with which the task activity can be contrasted, revealing neural activity related to particular cognitive tasks. Over the years, the notion of the opposition of intrinsic and task activities (Cole et al., 2014) and the concept of baseline activity (Morcom and Fletcher, 2007) received a significant amount of criticism. However, the RS is still used throughout neuroscience, in a mostly unchanged form since its introduction. Recently, some researchers (Finn, 2021) argued that the way we collect RS data should be improved. It was also argued that they should be combined with a task to reflect the more nuanced and complex nature of brain activity.

Here, we would like to discuss the importance of those recent works for the neuroscience of consciousness. Similar to other subfields, the above-mentioned dichotomous view of brain activity is also present in many studies on consciousness. The RS paradigm is primarily used in studies investigating the states of consciousness. It is treated as a baseline condition for comparing the activity in, for example, the disorders of consciousness (Hannawi et al., 2015), sleep (Tagliazucchi and Laufs, 2014), or anesthesia (Boveroux et al., 2010). This approach is consistent with the view treating RS activity as a measure of wakefulness (or general excitability of the brain). This view drastically limits RS usefulness, seeing it as a minimal but insufficient prerequisite for conscious processing. Here, we argue that the new reformative methodological approach (Finn, 2021) can be conceptually applied to consciousness research so as to allow for a better understanding of its neuronal underpinnings, especially in the emerging field investigating the relations between its states and contents (Bachmann and Hudetz, 2014). We also propose how such an improved RS paradigm should look like and how it may benefit the scientific study of consciousness.

CONSCIOUSNESS AT REST

The RS already proved itself useful in consciousness research, for example, improving the diagnostics of various disorders of consciousness (Bai et al., 2017). This success stems directly from the design of the RS paradigm. At the minimal level, it only requires some neuroimaging apparatuses as no stimulation is presented to the participant. It can be administered for long periods of time without much fatigue, allowing for a more thorough assessment (which can be crucial for diagnosing, e.g., epileptic seizures). Finally. it does not require any involvement from the participant who, depending on the situation, might not be able to properly perceive stimulation or provide a response. This restrictive approach minimizes the complexity of the procedure, yielding more robust results and making it more convenient in clinical settings.

This method is, however, usually transferred directly into non-clinical settings, where there is little practical necessity for such minimal procedures, except the convenience for researchers. While it might not have much consequence when investigating, for example, the connectivity of particular brain regions, in the case of consciousness research, it can very well-obstruct more than it is revealing. Firstly, we should consider what aspect of consciousness we can capture this way. In a clinical setting, the focus is on distinguishing between the states of consciousness and unconsciousness. Assuming that this disposition is relatively stable in time, researchers test a variety of characteristics through the calculation of single-digit outcomes averaged across the whole recording (Sitt et al., 2014). These outcomes are then used to classify patients as conscious or unconscious. However, when testing healthy awake participants, the variability in the signal cannot reflect a wakefulness or consciousness state but arises primarily from the conscious content present in their minds. Even if the RS session is short, this content will fluctuate significantly during this time, especially since no explicit task is given. Therefore, running a minimal RS procedure and averaging the results over the whole sessions blur contentrelated correlates and exaggerates unrelated to the consciousness differences between the participants. From this perspective, it seems crucial for consciousness research to stop ignoring this subjective variability. It appears that the easiest way to start is to ask the participants about it (Gonzalez-Castillo et al., 2021). This simple idea can result in many useful approaches, some of which we will point out in the next section.

The second troubling assumption implicitly included in the classical RS approach is that an acquired signal represents a typical spontaneous activity. However, the whole situation of a scientific experiment is undoubtedly very far from everyday life. Participants are usually confined in a small space of an experimental booth or MRI machine with dimmed lights and an explicit instruction to "not think about anything in particular." This is a very artificial setting compared to everyday life. For a long time, we knew of such specific influences (e.g., experimenter effect; Rosenthal, 1976) and it seems reasonable to assume that this effect influences brain activity in the same way as behavior. This could not only alter the pattern of spontaneous thought that the participants usually experience (e.g., focusing on the novelty

or oddness of the situation) but also influence the correlates of wakefulness (e.g., increasing the level of stress related to taking part in an experiment). Introducing an RS that more closely resembles everyday life activities could help to verify the generalizability of already established markers and test to what degree they depend on the factors not related to consciousness.

The final troubling implicit assumption is treating rest and task as exclusive modes of operation. An RS procedure is a form of a task just by the virtue of being a part of an experiment. Conversely, assuming that all changes in the signal during a task are related only to how it is constructed significantly limits our inferences. This can be observed in the research on the neural correlates of consciousness, where the trials with weak or absent stimuli are usually labeled as unconscious (Silverstein et al., 2015). However, it is safe to assume that the participants were in fact conscious of many things (the screen, their bodies, etc.), not just the stimulus. Experiments are constructed to keep external conditions maximally constant, but the internal conditions, which most certainly vary, typically go unaccounted for. Extending the definition of rest to all the activities that are not directly influenced by the experimental manipulation, we can imagine how this background activity could behave similarly to an explicit RS procedure. These background-conscious contents are also likely to fluctuate and change, interacting with taskrelated processes without researcher control. The averaged evoked activity would then present a false image of stable markers that might replicate poorly in different conditions or with different individuals. The inclusion of the non-task signal into the analysis could at least account for those changes.

MAKING REST MORE USEFUL

We believe that analyzing an RS activity is a necessary element to capture the phenomenon of consciousness in its entirety. Currently, however, resting procedures are mostly done with the minimal clinical approach mentioned earlier. Therefore, unlocking its full potential will not only require to introduce more complexity to its design, which will inevitably make the analyses more difficult, but it will also allow for more informed inferences about the underlying mechanisms.

The most straightforward improvement is the inclusion of some form of experience sampling (Martinon et al., 2019). By simply asking the participants what they did during the resting period, we could account for the different thought patterns that a participant might have when being prompted to wait and "do nothing." Inevitably, people will vary greatly in the content of their thoughts. Depending on the form of the RS procedure and goal of the researchers, there are different ways that this could be done. When the main focus of an experiment are the spontaneous thoughts and their dynamics, an occasional prompt asking for the content of thought might be a viable option (e.g., Hurlburt and Akhter, 2006). When only a general type of the thoughts during resting is of interest, a questionnaire (e.g., Amsterdam Resting State Questionnaire; Diaz et al., 2014) at the end might give the researchers enough information. In fact, self-reports seem to be reliably related to the activity of major brain networks (Stoffers

et al., 2015). Most importantly, this augmentation allows for tracking the correlates of spontaneous conscious thought on top of the markers of excitability.

Another enhancement is a more ecological approach to RS sessions. Instead of maximally reducing the external stimulation, researchers can incorporate settings resembling the natural human environment (Sonkusare et al., 2019). This can be achieved by the passive experiencing of audiovisual material (Naci et al., 2014), usage of more immersive technologies like virtual reality (Baumgartner et al., 2006), or recording resting data outside of the laboratory (Edwards and Trujillo, 2021). Not only would it bring the brain's activity closer to what is actually going on most of the day; it would also impose some level of constraint on the spontaneous thought. Humans evolved to function in a certain environment, the elements of which naturally capture attention and invoke certain cognitive processes. From this perspective, unconstrained spontaneous thought is also not something that happens often. Therefore, by introducing stimulation to a session, we can measure a structured version of RS, where the order of cognitive processes is dictated from the outside (Hasson et al., 2004), rather than reconstructed through experience sampling. Some researchers already tried this, for example, by *post-hoc* analyzing task data in a continuous fashion (Sitt et al., 2014), but most of its potential is yet to be explored.

Finally, following the aforementioned principles, one could introduce paradigms combining the RS with a task. Such integrated designs would allow us to investigate the relation between the conscious task-related content with the state. There is already a substantive literature on how the pre-stimulus activity influences conscious perception (e.g., Benwell et al., 2017; Samaha et al., 2017). Similarly, we could also look for stimulusrelated patterns that reverberate in a non-task activity after its presentation. For example, through introducing randomly short breaks between stimuli, we could investigate if and how stimulation influences the background activity or even sample experience to get reports on fatigue, engagement, and other potentially important factors (Thompson et al., 2013). On top of that, as acknowledged by Finn (2021), in principle, there is no reason to not analyze task data with methods devised for the RS. Analyzing task data using RS methods might be more demanding than evoked activity analyses, but it could bring an important insight into conscious brain activity that is being overlooked.

CHALLENGES

The main methodological challenge we see is the necessity to rework both experimental paradigms and analysis pipelines. This

REFERENCES

Bachmann, T., and Hudetz, A. G. (2014). It is time to combine the two main traditions in the research on the neural correlates of consciousness: $C = L \ge D$. *Front. Psychol.* 5, 940. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014. 00940

might be difficult since most studies rely on evoked activity and model only the stimulus-related conscious activity of the brain. As mentioned in the previous section, we think that employing a mixed resting-task approach could be a good first step to recognize the most promising aspects of the data, for which new more sophisticated paradigms and analyses methods could be devised.

We also acknowledge that currently, there are significant theoretical obstacles for incorporating RS analyses. Most of the prominent theories of consciousness were constructed and validated through experiments involving tasks and stimulievoked activity. Therefore, it is difficult to formulate any testable hypotheses based on them, making the use of RS procedures troublesome. It seems that for now, only few (e.g., Tononi et al., 2016; Bachmann et al., 2020) could provide any predictions. Yet, we are convinced that this not only poses a challenge for current theories but also gives an opportunity for broadening their scope to more fully describe consciousness and the mechanisms that govern it.

CONCLUSIONS

In this opinion paper, we advocated for the greater use of the RS paradigm in consciousness research. We believe that this will improve the existing models of and analytical approaches to consciousness, allowing to better understand its neural mechanisms. It is also a necessary step to account for all aspects of conscious experience that people have during their everyday life.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK drafted the initial version. All authors revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Science Center Poland (Grants No. 2016/23/N/HS6/00844) awarded to MK.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This article is based upon work from COST Action CA18106, supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology).

Bachmann, T., Suzuki, M., and Aru, J. (2020). Dendritic integration theory: a thalamo-cortical theory of state and content of consciousness. *Philos. Mind Sci.* 1, 1–24. doi: 10.33735/phimisci.2020.II.52

Bai, Y., Xia, X., and Li, X. (2017). A review of resting-state electroencephalography analysis in disorders of consciousness. *Front. Neurol.* 8, 471. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00471

- Baumgartner, T., Valko, L., Esslen, M., and Jäncke, L. (2006). Neural correlate of spatial presence in an arousing and noninteractive virtual reality: An EEG and psychophysiology study. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 9, 30–45. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9.30
- Benwell, C. S. Y., Tagliabue, C. F., Veniero, D., Cecere, R., Savazzi, S., and Thut, G. (2017). Prestimulus EEG power predicts conscious awareness but not objective visual performance. *ENeuro* 4, 1–17. doi: 10.1523/ENEURO.0182-17.2017
- Boveroux, P., Vanhaudenhuyse, A., Bruno, M.-A., Noirhomme, Q., Lauwick, S., Luxen, A., et al. (2010). Breakdown of within- and between-network resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging connectivity during propofol-induced loss of consciousness. *Anesthesiology* 113, 1038–1053. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e3181f697f5
- Callard, F., and Margulies, D. S. (2011). The subject at rest: novel conceptualizations of self and brain from cognitive neuroscience's study of the 'resting state'. *Subjectivity* 4, 227–257. doi: 10.1057/sub.2011.11
- Cole, M. W., Bassett, D. S., Power, J. D., Braver, T. S., and Petersen, S. E. (2014). Intrinsic and task-evoked network architectures of the human brain. *Neuron* 83, 238–251. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.05.014
- Diaz, B. A., Van Der Sluis, S., Benjamins, J. S., Stoffers, D., Hardstone, R., Mansvelder, H. D., et al. (2014). The ARSQ 2.0 reveals age and personality effects on mind-wandering experiences. *Front. Psychol.* 5, 271. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00271
- Edwards, D. J., and Trujillo, L. T. (2021). An Analysis of the External Validity of EEG Spectral Power in an Uncontrolled Outdoor Environment during Default and Complex Neurocognitive States. Brain Sci. 11:330. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11030330
- Finn, E. S. (2021). Is it time to put rest to rest? *Trends Cogn Sci.* 25, 1021–1032. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2021.09.005
- Gonzalez-Castillo, J., Kam, J. W. Y., Hoy, C. W., and Bandettini, P. A. (2021). How to interpret resting-state fMRI: ask your participants. J. Neurosci. 41, 1130–1141. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1786-20.2020
- Gusnard, D. A., and Raichle, M. E. (2001). Searching for a baseline: functional imaging and the resting human brain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 685–694. doi: 10.1038/35094500
- Hannawi, Y., Lindquist, M. A., Caffo, B. S., Sair, H. I., and Stevens, R. D. (2015). Resting brain activity in disorders of consciousness. *Neurology* 84, 1272–1280. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001404
- Hasson, U., Nir, Y., Levy, I., Fuhrmann, G., and Malach, R. (2004). Intersubject synchronization of cortical activity during natural vision. *Science*. 303, 1634– 1640. doi: 10.1126/science.1089506
- Hurlburt, R. T., and Akhter, S. A. (2006). The Descriptive experience sampling method. *Phenomenol. Cogn. Sci.* 5, 271–301. doi: 10.1007/s11097-006-9024-0
- Martinon, L. M., Smallwood, J., McGann, D., Hamilton, C., and Riby, L. M. (2019). The disentanglement of the neural and experiential complexity of self-generated thoughts: a users guide to combining experience sampling with neuroimaging data. *NeuroImage* 192, 15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.02.034
- Morcom, A. M., and Fletcher, P. C. (2007). Does the brain have a baseline? Why we should be resisting a rest. *NeuroImage* 37, 1073–1082. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.013
- Naci, L., Cusack, R., Anello, M., and Owen, A. M. (2014). "A common neural code for similar conscious experiences in different individuals," in *Proceedings*

of the National Academy of Sciences. 111, 14277–14282. doi: 10.1073/pnas.14070 07111

- Raichle, M. E., MacLeod, A. M., Snyder, A. Z., Powers, W. J., Gusnard, D. A., and Shulman, G. L. (2001). A default mode of brain function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 676–682. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.2.676
- Rosenthal, R. (1976). Experimenter Effects in Behavioral Research. Irvington, NJ.
- Samaha, J., Iemi, L., and Postle, B. R. (2017). Prestimulus alpha-band power biases visual discrimination confidence, but not accuracy. *Conscious. Cogn.* 54, 47–55. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2017.02.005
- Silverstein, B. H., Snodgrass, M., Shevrin, H., and Kushwaha, R. (2015). P3b, consciousness, and complex unconscious processing. *Cortex* 73, 216–227. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2015.09.004
- Sitt, J. D., King, J.-R., El Karoui, I., Rohaut, B., Faugeras, F., Gramfort, A., et al. (2014). Large scale screening of neural signatures of consciousness in patients in a vegetative or minimally conscious state. *Brain* 137, 2258–2270. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu141
- Sonkusare, S., Breakspear, M., and Guo, C. (2019). Naturalistic stimuli in neuroscience: critically acclaimed. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 23, 699–714. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2019.05.004
- Stoffers, D., Diaz, B. A., Chen, G., den Braber, A., van 't Ent, D., Boomsma, D. I., et al. (2015). Resting-State fMRI functional connectivity is associated with sleepiness, imagery, and discontinuity of mind. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0142014. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142014
- Tagliazucchi, E., and Laufs, H. (2014). Decoding wakefulness levels from typical fMRI resting-state data reveals reliable drifts between wakefulness and sleep. *Neuron* 82, 695–708. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.03.020
- Thompson, G. J., Magnuson, M. E., Merritt, M. D., Schwarb, H., Pan, W.-J., McKinley, A., et al. (2013). Short-time windows of correlation between large-scale functional brain networks predict vigilance intraindividually and interindividually. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 34, 3280–3298. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 22140
- Tononi, G., Boly, M., Massimini, M., and Koch, C. (2016). Integrated information theory: from consciousness to its physical substrate. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 450–461. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.44

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Koculak and Wierzchoń. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

26



Tackling the Electro-Topography of the Selves Through the Sphere Model of Consciousness

Patrizio Paoletti¹, Rotem Leshem², Michele Pellegrino¹ and Tal Dotan Ben-Soussan^{1*}

¹ Research Institute for Neuroscience, Education and Didactics, Patrizio Paoletti Foundation, Assisi, Italy, ² Department of Criminology, Bar-Ilan University, Ramat Gan, Israel

In the current hypothesis paper, we propose a novel examination of consciousness and self-awareness through the neuro-phenomenological theoretical model known as the Sphere Model of Consciousness (SMC). Our aim is to create a practical instrument to address several methodological issues in consciousness research. We present a preliminary attempt to validate the SMC via a simplified electrophysiological topographic map of the Self. This map depicts the gradual shift from faster to slower frequency bands that appears to mirror the dynamic between the various SMC states of Self. In order to explore our hypothesis that the SMC's different states of Self correspond to specific frequency bands, we present a mini-review of studies examining the electrophysiological activity that occurs within the different states of Self and in the context of specific meditation types. The theoretical argument presented here is that the SMC's hierarchical organization of three states of the Self mirrors the hierarchical organization of Focused Attention, Open Monitoring, and Non-Dual meditation types. This is followed by testable predictions and potential applications of the SMC and the hypotheses derived from it. To our knowledge, this is the first integrated electrophysiological account that combines types of Self and meditation practices. We suggest this electro-topographic framework of the Selves enables easier, clearer conceptualization of the connections between meditation types as well as increased understanding of wakefulness states and altered states of consciousness.

Edited by:

OPEN ACCESS

Luca Simione, Institute of Cognitive Sciences and Technologies (ISTC-CNR), Italy

Reviewed by:

Hiroaki Ishida, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science, Japan Sepehrdad Rahimian, National Research University Higher School of Economics, Russia

> *Correspondence: Tal Dotan Ben-Soussan research @fondazionepatriziopaoletti.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Consciousness Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 15 December 2021 Accepted: 11 March 2022 Published: 19 May 2022

Citation:

Paoletti P, Leshern R, Pellegrino M and Ben-Soussan TD (2022) Tackling the Electro-Topography of the Selves Through the Sphere Model of Consciousness. Front. Psychol. 13:836290. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.836290 Keywords: consciousness, self, electrophysiology, meditation, executive functions, EEG, frequency

INTRODUCTION

For centuries, scientists and philosophers have been tackling the question of what consciousness is, in order to understand what underlies human behavior, feeling, and action (Barrett and Satpute, 2013). Consciousness is a volatile phenomenon that is not easily defined, yet it determines our perception of what we consider as objective reality. While most operational definitions offer some attempt to characterize its various aspects, such definitions do not give a completely satisfying account of the way we know we are aware of our self and our existence (for a detailed argument, see Ardila, 2016). Consciousness is often regarded as consisting of two main components: awareness (the "content" of consciousness), and wakefulness or arousal (the "level" of consciousness). In addition to perception of the events of the "outside world," awareness also refers to the subjective

experience of internal phenomena: our perception of inner "events," whether or not related to external ones, that comprises our subjective reality (Vithoulkas and Muresanu, 2014). This may also include self-awareness, i.e., awareness of one's internal world of thoughts, reflections, imagination, and emotions as an expression of the Self. There is also a more elaborate level of selfawareness involving higher-order cognitive mechanisms such as attentional focus on one's own mental states that is considered a distinct form of reflexive awareness (Peters, 2009), or "self as context" (Grieger, 1985).

Neuroscientific research has adopted different notions of the Self, the most frequently used of which is the binary distinction between the Narrative Self (NS) and the Minimal Self (MS) (James, 1890/1950; Gallagher, 2000; Legrand, 2006, 2007; Zahavi and Gallagher, 2008; Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2019, 2020; Gallagher and Zahavi, 2020; Paoletti et al., 2020). In the SMC, a third state is added, called Overcoming of the Self, indicating the complete absence of any sense of self (Paoletti, 2002a,b; Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2019, 2020; Paoletti et al., 2020). In the last decade, each of these three selves has been regarded in contemplative neuroscience as a particular configuration of selfawareness and mental contents (Gallagher, 2000; Jerath et al., 2015; Sugimura et al., 2021). There have also been attempts to link self-states to higher-order cognitive functions (i.e., executive functions), although the existing research is still scant (Ardila, 2016; Wade et al., 2018). Nonetheless, there is some evidence suggesting that the Self can be examined as a multidimensional construct denoted by: (1) First-person subjective reporting-such as the self-awareness experience; (2) Behavioral characteristics expressed through executive functions; and (3) Third-person objective measurements, such as electrophysiology (Fingelkurts et al., 2020). Accordingly, several theoretical models of selves have been proposed based on first-person phenomenology (James, 1890/1950; Gallagher, 2000; Legrand, 2006, 2007; Zahavi and Gallagher, 2008; Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2019, 2020; Fingelkurts et al., 2020; Gallagher and Zahavi, 2020; Paoletti et al., 2020); however, the challenge of empirically examining and validating them remains.

In this theoretical paper, we propose a novel examination of consciousness and self-awareness through the lens of the neurophenomenological theoretical model known as the Sphere Model of Consciousness (SMC; Paoletti, 2002a,b; Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2019, 2020; Paoletti et al., 2020). Although there are methodological challenges involved in examining and validating this model, we suggest ways to overcome these challenges through an "electro-topography of the Selves" that depicts cognitive and electrophysiological correlates of the different states of the Self, induced by different meditative practices. Of course, the subjective phenomenology of first-person experience remains an indispensable part of any consciousness research (Varela, 1996; Depraz et al., 2000). Thus, our aim is to create a practical instrument bridging first person reports and electrophysiology, in order to resolve some of the methodological challenges of consciousness research, as outlined below.

First, we will show how each state of the Self connects with a particular type of self-awareness and first-person phenomenology of experience, and then link these to executive functions.

Second, by isolating some of the specific electrophysiological and neuronal correlates of each Self and meditative practice, we will suggest that hierarchies of meditation and the Selves (Laukkonen and Slagter, 2021) share a similar electro-topography. As the hierarchical electrophysiological correlates of Selves have yet to be conceptualized within one unified model, we will detail the electrophysiology of the Selves, followed by the electrophysiology of meditation and each specific Self, all within the framework of the Sphere Model of Consciousness (SMC) (**Figure 1A**; Paoletti, 2002a,b; Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2019, 2020; Paoletti et al., 2020).

THE SPHERE MODEL OF CONSCIOUSNESS, HIERARCHY OF SELVES, AND EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS

The three Selves conceptualized in the SMC are: the Narrative Self, the Minimal Self, and the Overcoming of the Self (SMC; Paoletti, 2002a,b; Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2019, 2020; Paoletti et al., 2020; see **Figure 1A**). They are represented as concentric circles around a center (**Figure 1B**), with the Narrative Self (NS) on the periphery, the Minimal Self (MS) in the middle, and Overcoming of the Self (OCS) in the center.

Each Self is characterized by a particular state of self-awareness and first-person phenomenology that are expressed through features driven by functionality and cognition. In turn, the specific features of each state of the Self facilitate regulatory processes supported by executive functions (EFs) (Barkley, 2001; Nigg, 2017), as we will see shortly. The Narrative Self is considered as a self-image built through autobiographical memories and projections into the future; it involves awareness of personal identity and its continuity through time, as well as conceptual contents (Oatley, 2007). The Minimal Self emerges from the awareness of a situated living body as a sensorimotor unit that enables selfhood in the physical world in the "here and now" (James, 1890/1950; Gallagher, 2000), has a short temporal extension, and is endowed with a sense of action, property, and first person non-conceptual content. In our previous papers about the SMC, we specified the addition of a third state, called Overcoming of the Self (see Figure 1B), in which all sense of self disappears yet subjective experiences are still able to be experienced and eventually reported (Paoletti, 2002a,b; Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2019, 2020; Paoletti et al., 2020).

As we have said, each of the above-mentioned Selves is linked to core self-awareness features driven by functionality and cognition, and they facilitate regulatory processes supported by executive functions (EFs) (Barkley, 2001; Nigg, 2017). EFs are a set of higher-order cognitive functions often linked to the prefrontal cortex of the brain, consisting of three key components-working memory, inhibition, and cognitive flexibility-from which more complex and higher-order EFs are built (e.g., reasoning and planning) (Miyake et al., 2000; Diamond, 2013). EFs are essential for controlling unregulated behaviors, whether external (e.g., physical actions), as well as internal (e.g., meditative practices) (van Gaal et al., 2009;



Hofmann et al., 2012). Furthermore, effective self-regulation processes require self-awareness of one's actions, thoughts, and feelings as well as the ability to make desired changes when needed (Heatherton, 2011). The multidimensional nature of EFs creates complexity regarding how they are conceptualized theoretically (Anderson, 2002; Welsh et al., 2006). This complexity is evident in the examination of latent components of EFs (e.g., shifting, inhibition) in relation to other multidimensional constructs, such as Self and awareness. The convergent and discriminant validity of these constructs is not clear, and the nature of their differences remains to be determined.

The different Selves-Narrative Self, Minimal Self, and Overcoming of the Self-may involve different usages of EFs. As we have seen above, the Narrative Self, depicted toward the periphery of the SMC sphere, is a more or less coherent self (or self-image) that is constituted of a past and a future in the various narratives that we and others tell about ourselves. It relies on declarative and episodic memories of the past or projection into the future (Vago and David, 2012) and, for an evaluative and personal perspective to be constituted and maintained over time, executive and volitional processes are necessary (Bortolan, 2020). Indeed, narrative abilities required to establish the Narrative Self are associated with core components of EFs and the higher-order cognitive functions that emerge from them, such as workingmemory, inhibition, and set-shifting (Friend and Bates, 2014). However, once the Narrative Self is constructed and established, one can act more automatically with little forethought based on accumulated and internalized learning and experience. Thus, in the Narrative Self, a person can operate with relatively low selfawareness.

In contrast, the Minimal Self, depicted between the periphery and the center of the SMC sphere, is usually connected to conscious experience and a specific kind of self-awareness in which experiences are assimilated immediately as one's own experiences without need for any inferential processes (Lane, 2020). This form of self-experience in the Minimal Self is connected with pre-reflective self-consciousness (Bortolan, 2020). As Gallagher and Zahavi (2020) explain, on the one hand, self-experience is "non-observational" because it does not depend on any kind of introspective attitude taken by the subject toward the experience itself. On the other, it is "non-objectifying" because through it the self is not treated as an object, but rather as the subject of a conscious state. It can be claimed that in the Minimal Self state, a person deliberately reduces the use of executive processes and at the same time increases the level of bodily self-awareness.

Finally, as the level of consciousness of the Self approaches the center of the SMC sphere, toward the Overcoming of the Self, the necessity of EFs may decrease considerably, or even cease completely.¹ It is also entirely possible that the use of EFs

¹In relation to this, in certain meditation practices, attention must eventually be released in favor of a form of bare or non-preferential attention, while in nondual meditation practices, attention is released altogether (Dunne, 2011) as it claims to employ reflexive awareness that permits non-dual witnessing of the subject-object dichotomy and results in a pure (non-dual) awareness. In fact, according to some traditions, our inability to ordinarily detect non-dual awareness "is due to an obscuration of this reflexive property by mistaken cognitions arising from substrate consciousness. Although NDA [non-dual awareness] is experienced in meditation as a vivid presence of empty awareness that knows Itself directly without mediation by conceptual thought, substrate consciousness is experienced as a pleasantly restful absorbed state, akin to deep sleep yet not entirely unconscious" (Josipovic, 2014, pp. 2). In addition, the voluntary "letting go" in "states of flow," a transitory state between the MN and OCS, is related to altered states of consciousness (ASC). This deliberate reduction in the use of executive processes can also occur in the experience of flow (Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). Flow may result from a voluntary act occurring in both meditation and sports, a tuning in that involves "letting go" of goal (Jackson and Csikszentmihalyi, 1999; Lutz, 2009; Brown and Leary, 2016; Paoletti et al., 2020). It is important to note that alpha activity has been found to be related to the experience of flow (Katahira et al., 2018) and considering the involvement of alpha frequency both in flow and

in different Selves may not only vary in how *much* they are involved but also in the *way* they are involved. For example, a recent review (Gallant, 2016) highlighted a specific, instead of general, improvement in inhibition following mindfulness meditation, but showed inconsistent benefits in memory and cognitive flexibility, the other two main components of EFs (Miyake et al., 2000).

TOWARD AN ELECTRO-TOPOGRAPHY OF THE SELVES

In the last few years, there have been several attempts to link different features of self-awareness (e.g., identity, witnessing) with their electrophysiological correlates (Raffone et al., 2019; Fingelkurts et al., 2020; Sugimura et al., 2021), indicating a noticeable interest of neuroscientific research in finding a method to correlate first-person phenomenology and objective measures. One such attempt at a three-dimensional construct model for complex experiential selfhood was proposed, focusing on cortical alpha activity (Fingelkurts et al., 2020). It suggests that increased frontal alpha connectivity during the experience of a "nonsymbolic, non-linguistic sense of self-presenting being," such as a sharper, more vivid experience of being a witnessing agent for oneself, possibly reflects being more conscious and able to access the external world, as well as the first-person perspective (Fingelkurts et al., 2020). Furthermore, temporal dynamics reflected in the brain's electrophysiological activity have been linked by Sugimura et al. (2021) to another core feature of selfawareness, namely, the sense of consistency of self. In turn, the subjective sense of an integrated and coherent Self across time, conceptualized as identity (Erikson, 1968), has been correlated to better cognitive performance, as well as to enhanced moral judgment and creative problem solving (Dietrich and Kanso, 2010; Travis et al., 2011; Charles et al., 2014).

Models of the self, such as those proposed by Fingelkurts et al. (2020) and Sugimura et al. (2021) focus mostly on alpha cortical sources. Yet, contemplative studies, which serve as excellent means of examining the states of Self, have also emphasized the importance of additional bands as well (Travis et al., 2010; Glicksohn and Berkovich-Ohana, 2011, 2012; Kerr et al., 2011; Muthukumaraswamy et al., 2013; Flor-Henry et al., 2017; Wahbeh et al., 2018; Glicksohn and Ben-Soussan, 2020). Taking this into consideration, we suggest the inclusion of additional frequency bands in order to find more comprehensive electrophysiological marker evidence differentiating the different Selves.

Toward this aim, we present a preliminary attempt to integrate into the SMC a simplified topographic map of the Selves by band, in which the NS is related to higher frequency bands, while the transition toward the center of the sphere that is associated with the MS is related to a shifting toward lower frequency bands (see **Figure 1B**; Dor-Ziderman et al., 2013; Carhart-Harris et al., 2014; Paoletti et al., 2020), ultimately leading toward the state of OCS (see **Figure 2**).

We also posit that the electro-topography of the Selves aligns with a hierarchy of meditation practices, from Focused Attention (FA) to Open Monitoring (OM) to Non-Dual (ND) meditation (Laukkonen and Slagter, 2021).² Meditation provides us an excellent tool for investigating the nature of the Self, especially in the rare states of consciousness in which self-processing changes (Laukkonen and Slagter, 2021). Understanding how meditation modulates neural oscillations³ may help elucidate the relationship between these brain oscillations and cognitive processes, as well as the different states of Self they may induce. Accordingly, we will show how these three related meditation practices, namely, FA, OM, and ND, follow a similar pattern as the Selves of increasingly slower frequency bands⁴ approaching the center of the SMC sphere.

⁴FA meditation requires voluntary focusing attention on a chosen object, OM meditation involves non-reactive monitoring of the content of experience from moment to moment (Lutz et al., 2009), and ND meditation aims for awareness that is unchanging regardless of what happens in experience (Josipovic, 2010; Dunne, 2011; Metzinger, 2020). ND awareness is characterized by its reflexive property—it knows itself to be conscious without relying on conceptual cognition (Josipovic, 2014; Laukkonen and Slagter, 2021). These meditation types also reflect different neural activity. FA, such as in the case of Tibetan Buddhist, Buddhist, and Chinese practices (Travis et al., 2010), has been mostly associated with gamma and beta activity (Hinterberger et al., 2014), OM with theta activity (Lee et al., 2018) and ND with delta activity (Knyazev, 2012; Berman and Stevens, 2015).



as main difference between Altered States and Higher States, this voluntary "letting go" could be critical in discriminating between these states of consciousness.

²Another reason for the similarities between electrophysiological correlates of the electro-topography of the Selves and meditation types could be related to the different executive functions required for each of these states, which may be related to different levels of self-awareness, as we have seen in Section "The Sphere Model of Consciousness, Hierarchy of Selves, and Executive Functions."

³In particular, neural oscillations can be evaluated in a local region or between various regions of the brain. The strength of a particular oscillatory frequency in a particular region can be analyzed using a power analysis. Coherence, on the other hand, is the degree of coupling of a particular frequency between two different brain regions and can be used as an indicator of functional connectivity. EEG and MEG can both be used to investigate power and coherence within a particular frequency band.

Thus, we will attempt to show that hierarchical organization based on the level of consciousness of the three types of the Self, which mirrors the hierarchical organization of meditation practice types, can be electrophysiologically measured through frequency bands. This electrophysiological topographic map of the self, reflecting a gradual shift from faster frequency bands, namely, Gamma (30–70 Hz) and Beta (13–30 Hz), to slower ones, namely, Alpha (8–12 Hz), Theta (4–8 Hz), and eventually Delta (1–4 Hz) as we get closer to the center of the Sphere. Thus, we propose three main hypotheses that can be examined through evidence-based electro-topography as specified below:

Hypothesis 1: The Narrative Self Primarily Involves Gamma and Beta

Empirical grounding for the first hypothesis is based on the finding that Gamma and Beta bands are often correlated with EFs such as focused attention and cognitive effort (Ward, 2003). Since Gamma and Beta are attributed both to FA and working memory, which is essential for the Narrative Self (Laukkonen and Slagter, 2021), we posit that the Narrative Self will be electrophysiologically related to FA meditation.

In fact, Gamma has been consistently reported to increase during engaging self-referential processing and focused attention in different cognitive tasks (Engel et al., 2001; Fell et al., 2003), both of which are related to the Narrative Self (Mantini et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2008), while a general decrease in this band has been reported during more relaxed states of meditation.

Beta is typically associated with sensorimotor processing (Symons et al., 2016). This is supported by studies that have shown a decrease in Beta during OM (Dor-Ziderman et al., 2013; Faber et al., 2015), Transcendental Meditation (Tomljenoviæ et al., 2016), and following an intensive 3-month meditation retreat (Slagter et al., 2007). Decreased Beta activity might be understood as decreased active processing consistent with the traditional understanding that Beta activity is associated with a more active and aroused brain-processing state (Slagter et al., 2009). The findings regarding this frequency band mirror those regarding Gamma frequencies: increasing in relation to the Narrative Self state and decreasing in more relaxed states. Thus, our hypothesis that the Narrative Self is related to FA meditation (Laukkonen and Slagter, 2021), is centered on the notion that both will elicit primarily Gamma and Beta frequencies.

Hypothesis 2: The Minimal Self Primarily Involves Alpha and Theta

Empirical grounding for the second hypothesis is centered around findings that Alpha and Theta frequencies have been found to increase in more relaxed states, lower arousal, in association with meditation, and with an internally directed focus of attention (Cooper et al., 2003; Takahashi et al., 2005; Lomas et al., 2015; Cona et al., 2020), all of which are related to the Minimal Self (see Section "The Sphere Model of Consciousness, Hierarchy of Selves, and Executive Functions" above). Many studies have found increased Alpha to be associated with meditation, such as Zen and Transcendental Meditation (Kasamatsu and Hirai, 1966; Wallace et al., 1971; Banquet, 1973; Murata et al., 1994, 2004; Yamamoto et al., 2006; see also Baerentsen et al., 2001 for a possible explanation of frontal cortical-subcortical system dominance in Zen meditation initiation).

There are different possible reasons for this relationship between Alpha frequency and meditation. DeLosAngeles et al. (2016) suggested that the widely reported increased Alpha power in meditation could be interpretable as a marker of practice or ease in task performance rather than specific to meditation. Beauregard et al. (2009) have instead suggested that higher frontal and temporal Alpha during meditation is an index of reduced cortical arousal associated with a relaxation response. In addition, as Kerr et al. (2013) beautifully described in their review, with somatic focus, mindfulness' top-down alpha rhythm modulation "enhances gain control which, in turn, sensitizes practitioners to better detect and regulate when the mind wanders from its somatic focus" (pp. 1), a feature fundamentally associated with the Minimal Self. In turn, enhanced regulation of somatic mind-wandering may be an important early stage of mindfulness training that leads to enhanced cognitive regulation and metacognition.

While both OM and FA are related to increased frontal Alpha amplitude and synchrony (Travis, 2001), a recent study reported that OM resulted in an increase in Alpha power, compared to FA, to meditation naïve controls (Himalayan Yoga), and to mind wandering (Braboszcz et al., 2017). There is also evidence that experienced meditators have increased prefrontal and parietal Alpha power during sleep (Dentico et al., 2016; regarding the sleep-wakefulness continuum, see also subsection The Sleep-Wakefulness Continuum below). One reason for this difference between OM and FA is that the top-down regulation of alpha is considered a key mechanism by which advanced OM practitioners learn to disengage attention in order to maintain greater attentional flexibility (Kerr et al., 2013). Alpha is not the only frequency that seems to be particularly related to OM; frontal and parietal Theta coherence have been found to increase in particular during this type of meditation (Cahn et al., 2013).

In addition, both Alpha and Theta are closely related to executive functions such as working memory (Sauseng et al., 2005a). Alpha frequency also plays a critical role in inhibition (Klimesch et al., 2007; Klimesch, 2011) and cognitive flexibility (Fink et al., 2009; Wolff et al., 2017), the other two main components of executive functions.

Theta is also associated with other relevant findings. Notably, Sugimura et al. (2021) reported that participants who tested well in having a strong sense of who they are (i.e., identity synthesis) exhibited increased Theta waves with low noise contamination in their frontal lobe, while those who reported feelings of a temporally changeable and fragmented self (i.e., identity confusion) displayed more Beta waves with high noise interference in the centroparietal lobe. In addition, frontocentral Alpha waves correlated negatively with identity confusion, and frontal Theta waves showed positive relationships with identity synthesis (Sugimura et al., 2021). Additionally, Aftanas and Golocheikine (2001) suggest that Theta is related to thoughtless awareness and bliss.

Taken together, these findings are particularly significant for linking the increase in Alpha and Theta bands to the phenomenology of the Minimal Self. A stronger sense of oneself is, in fact, reported during the Minimal Self state, which is characterized by bodily perception and a more consistent and continuous self-perception compared to the Narrative Self. Moreover, presuming that the Minimal Self is in alignment with OM meditation, both should elicit Alpha and Theta frequencies in particular.

Hypothesis 3: Overcoming of the Self Primarily Involves Delta Frequency

Empirical grounding for the third hypothesis centers on the finding that Delta is the main frequency associated with nondual meditative states and higher states of consciousness (Berman and Stevens, 2015). In fact lower frequency bands, namely, Delta (for a recent review, see Wahbeh et al., 2018), are related to meditation's "core," and thus are depicted toward the center of the SMC sphere (Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2020). This leads us to the third hypothesis that Delta should be primarily associated with Overcoming of the Self (see Section "The Sphere Model of Consciousness, Hierarchy of Selves, and Executive Functions"), and that Non-Dual meditation, which we theorize corresponds with the OCS, should also be particularly associated with Delta.

Delta is reported to increase in deep meditation, especially with higher states of consciousness (Mason et al., 1997; Parker et al., 2013; Berman and Stevens, 2015; Parker, 2017). Unusual Delta activity generated in deep meditation is affiliated with nonconceptual awareness; it may enhance the capacity to suddenly recognize complex, subtle informational patterns that serve to provide novel, relevant solutions to complex problems through insight (Horan, 2009). Consistent with our current hypothesis and supported by previous meditation research Berman and Stevens (2015) found increased Delta, Theta, and Alpha activity during meditation (for a review, see Ivanovski and Malhi, 2007; Wahbeh et al., 2018).

In addition, combining hypothesis 1, 2, and 3 demonstrating a gradual slowing of the frequencies as we approach the center of the SMC sphere, we can also observe a differentiation between general meditation and non-dual states (in which the participant transcends the separation between self and other). The opposite trend was observed for Gamma activity, which was higher during the meditation sessions compared to non-dual states (Berman and Stevens, 2015). Similarly, Berkovich-Ohana et al. (2012), who examined participants who possessed one of three levels of mindfulness expertise versus non-experienced controls, found that mindfulness practitioners generally exhibited reduced resting-state frontal low Gamma power as compared to controls. They also found decreased resting-state Gamma functional connectivity-representing Default Monde Network (DMN) deactivation-among the long-term practitioners, suggesting a trait or long-lasting effect of reduced mind-wandering and self-related processing that is generally associated with the Narrative Self (Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2012, 2013). In addition, creativity, as measured by ideational fluency and flexibility, which was higher among the long-term practitioners than the short-term practitioners and control participants, was negatively correlated with Gamma interhemispheric functional connectivity (Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2017). Thus, one should keep in mind that different meditation techniques can produce different electrophysiological results, depending, among other things, on the extent of experience of the practitioner, and the experimental design (Berman and Stevens, 2015).

In sum, recent electrophysiological studies of meditation consistently demonstrate increased slower frequency bands, and either decreased DMN activation or measures of enhanced sensory, and attentional processing with concomitantly decreased automated reactivity (for a review, see Britton et al., 2014) which could be integrated in the SMC and the hierarchy of Selves. See **Table 1** for our mini-review linking different meditation practices and the phenomenological description of the Selves to the electrophysiological findings. The literature review presented in **Table 1** was conducted in order to examine our hypothesis that there is a hierarchical order of the electrophysiological correlates that corresponds with the hierarchical order of the three types of the selves and related meditation practices.

DISCUSSION ON THE MODEL AND CURRENT HYPOTHESIS

Of the articles reviewed, 83% support our model of the electrotopography of the Selves with increasingly slower frequency bands as one approaches the center of the SMC sphere (**Table 2**).

To further support our hypothesis, we will now also present a number of our previous study results regarding the relationship between frequency bands and self-awareness through: (1) Mindfulness meditation, (2) Quadrato Motor Training (QMT), and (3) The Whole-Body Perceptual Deprivation chamber (OVO-WBPD) (**Table 3**). The last two are techniques that were created from the SMC itself. The results support the relationship between electrophysiological frequency bands and the SMC. More specifically:

1. Mindfulness meditation. We previously reported higher fluency and flexibility, which are measures of creativity, among two long-term mindfulness practitioners as compared to short-term mindfulness practitioners and control participants, which were negatively correlated with trait default-mode gamma inter-hemispheric functional connectivity (Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2017). This study indicates that a form of mindfulness meditation that shares similarities with QMT can reduce the role of the DMN and the involvement of gamma frequency band. In terms of the model, mindfulness meditation can promote distancing from Narrative Self and from fast frequency bands like gamma. This is in line with the proposed electro-topography, since processes and networks (DMN) commonly related to the Narrative Self have also been found associated with gamma frequency outside the context of the SMC and the scope of TABLE 1 | Synthesis table summing our mini-review linking different meditation practices and the phenomenological description of the Selves to the electrophysiological findings.

	Meditation	Self		Results		Meditation	Self		Results		Meditation	Self		Results
Gamma	OM	NS	+	Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2012	Alpha	Multiple	NS	\	Marzetti et al., 2014	Theta	OM/FA*	NS	+	Lutz et al., 2009
	Multiple	NS	+	Berman and Stevens, 2015							FA	NS	\	Rodriguez-Larios and Alaerts, 2021
	Multiple	NS	+	Hinterberger et al., 2014		FA	NS	\	Rodriguez-Larios and Alaerts, 2021		FA	MS	+	Aftanas and Golosheykin, 2008
	Multiple	NS	+	Lehmann et al., 2001							FA	MS	١	Baijal and Srinivasan, 2010
	Review	NS	+	Lomas et al., 2015		FA	MS	+	Aftanas and Golosheykin, 2005		OM/FA*	MS	+	Cahn et al., 2010
	Neurofeedback	NS	١	Van Lutterveld et al., 2017		FA	MS	+	Banquet, 1973		FA	MS	+	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016
	OM/FA*	MS	+	Cahn et al., 2010		FA	MS	+	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016		Multiple	MS	+	Dunn et al., 1999
	FA	MS	-	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016		Multiple	MS	+	Dunn et al., 1999		Review	MS	+	Fell et al., 2010
	LKM	MS	+	Lutz et al., 2004		OM	MS	+	Faber et al., 2015		OM	MS	+	Kubota et al., 200
						Review	MS	+	Fell et al., 2010		Review	MS	+	Lomas et al., 201
	ND	OTS	+	Flor-Henry et al., 2017		OM	MS	+	Kasamatsu and Hirai, 1966		OM	MS	+	Murata et al., 199
						OM	MS	١	Kerr et al., 2013		OM	MS	١	Rodriguez-Larios et al., 2020
	ND	OTS	+	Huels et al., 2021		Review	MS	+	Lomas et al., 2015		OM	MS	+	Takahashi et al., 2005
						OM	MS	+	Murata et al., 1994		Multiple	OTS		Berman and Stevens, 2015
	FA	OTS	-	Travis et al., 2010		OM	MS	+	Murata et al., 2004		ND	OTS	+	Flor-Henry et al., 2017
						OM	MS	١	Rodriguez-Larios et al., 2020		Multiple	OTS	-	Hinterberger et al 2014
Beta	Multiple	NS/MS	+	Dunn et al., 1999		OM	MS	+	Takahashi et al., 2005		OM	OTS	+	Winter et al., 202
	FA	MS	-	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016		Review	MS	+	Wahbeh et al., 2018	Delta	OM/FA*	MS	-	Cahn et al., 2010
	OM	MS	-	Faber et al., 2015		FA	MS	+	Wallace et al., 1971		Multiple	MS	+	Dunn et al., 1999
	FA	MS	-	Travis et al., 2010		FA	MS	+	Yamamoto et al., 2006		OM	MS	+	Faber et al., 2008
						Multiple	OTS		Berman and Stevens, 2015		Multiple	MS	\	Lehmann et al., 2012
	ND	OTS	+	Flor-Henry et al., 2017		ND	OTS		Flor-Henry et al., 2017		FA	MS	\	Tei et al., 2009
						Multiple	OTS		Hinterberger et al., 2014		Multiple	OTS		
	Multiple	OTS	-	Hinterberger et al., 2014		OM	OTS	-	Lo et al., 2003		ND	OTS		
						FA	OTS	+	Travis et al., 2010		Multiple	OTS	-	
	Multiple	OTS	\	Lehmann et al., 2012							ND	OTS	+	
						OM	OTS	-	Winter et al., 2020		ND	OTS	+	

Attribution of self has been done accordingly to the phenomenological description of results done by authors of cited papers. Main hypotheses are colored in blue scale (with increasingly dark blue color as the findings relate toward the center of the sphere). Highlighted cells are findings related to the main hypotheses of the proposed model. Increase: +; Decrease: -; Changes in connectivity or Neurofeedback: ^{*}Vipassana meditation (VM) can be understood as a combination of FA meditation and OM meditation (Lutz et al., 2008).

the present paper (e.g., Engel et al., 2001; Laufs et al., 2003a,b; Chen et al., 2008; Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2012).

2. The QMT is a specifically structured movement meditation in which the participants make a step into one of 12 possible directions according to verbal instruction (Paoletti and Salvagio, 2011; Dotan Ben-Soussan et al., 2013). QMT relates mainly to processes associated with the Minimal Self as it requires ongoing second-by-second mindful awareness to the body and to the upcoming command (Ben-Soussan et al., 2019b; Leshem et al., 2020).

3. The OVO-WBPD chamber is an altered sensory environment in the form of a human-sized egg (uovo in Italian literally

TABLE 2 | Numerical summary of literature mini-review findings.

Agreement with hypotheses							
Papers	Ν	% of agreement with main hypotheses					
Papers regarding main hypotheses	24	83%					
Papers in agreement with main hypotheses	20						

Number and percentage of studies in agreement with our hypotheses. Reviews were not counted, and papers in agreement with hypotheses for more than one frequency were only counted once. Papers were considered "relevant to main hypotheses" if they examined the hypothesized frequency in association with a phenomenological description fitting the hypothesized-as-correlated Self state. The direction of the findings was then evaluated to see if it agreed with the hypotheses.

TABLE 3 | Summary of studies relating Quadrato Motor Training (QMT), OVO Whole Body Perceptual Deprivation chamber (OVO-WBPD), and mindfulness meditation to different states of Self and their electrophysiological correlates.

Study	Self Involved	Technique	General Results	Neural Correlates
Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2017	NS	Mindfulness Meditation	Enhanced creativity by long-term mindfulness training	Negatively correlation of creativity results with gamma inter- hemispheric functional connectivity
Lasaponara et al., 2016	NS/MS	OMT	EEG changes related to activation in higher order processing and mental effort	Enhancement of the shift from posterior to frontal Beta/Gamma from eyes closed to eyes open resting state after QMT Peculiar EEG bands characterizing eyes closed (alpha
Lasaponara et al., 2010	143/1413	QIVIT	Sharpened specialization during eyes closed and eyes open brain states, refining their specific electrophysiological characteristics	synchronization) and eyes open (Beta activity) resting state were positively modulated and increased after QMT.
Ben-Soussan et al., 2011	MS	QMT	Changes in time production correlated with frontal theta power and coherence changes	Bilateral temporal theta coherence during the time production tas increased following QMT
Ben Soussan et al., 2013	MS	QMT	Change in ideational flexibility was correlated with change in alpha coherence	Increased inter- and intra-hemispheric alpha coherence
Ben-Soussan et al., 2014a	MS	QMT	Improved performance on a speeded reading task (both Control	Increased cerebellar oscillatory alpha power (Dyslexic)
			and Dyslexic)	Increased inter-hemispheric alpha coherence (Dyslexic more than Controls)
Ben-Soussan et al., 2014b	MS	QMT	Decreased mind-wandering and narrative focused thought Increased reflectivity in both genders	Decreased gamma coherence in males compared to females Increased alpha and theta coherence in females while the opposit was found for males
Lasaponara et al., 2017	MS	QMT	Significant changes in functional connectivity in the alpha band following QMT	Limbic and fronto-temporal alpha connectivity increased during resting state following QMT
De Fano et al., 2019	MS	QMT	Increased frontal theta in last two blocks of QMT compared to the first one $% \left({{\left[{{{\rm{D}}_{\rm{T}}} \right]}_{\rm{T}}}} \right)$	Increased prefrontal and frontocentral theta
Glicksohn et al., 2019	MS/OTS	OVO-WBDP	Subjective experience and gender related differences in alpha profiles of participants	R>L asymmetry for males and L>R asymmetry for females Positive (frontal L <r (frontal="" alpha)="" l="" negative="" or="">R alpha) affec More verbal (L>R alpha) or a more imagistic (R>L alpha) thinking More trancelike (frontal>parietal alpha) or more reflective (frontal<parietal alpha)="" consciousness<="" of="" state="" td=""></parietal></r>
Ben-Soussan et al. 2019	OTS	OVO-WBDP	Achievement of a state of absorption	Increased delta and beta1 in left inferior frontal cortex and in the insula

Main hypotheses are colored in blue scale (with increasingly dark blue color as the findings relate toward the center of the sphere).

means "egg"). Based on the SMC, the OVO-WBPD was specifically built with the aim of facilitating an immersive experience and an increased state of presence (Paoletti, 2002a). While the QMT is related more to the Minimal Self, the experience in the OVO-WBPD is more related to the Overcoming of the Self, since it induces a state of absorption and dissolves spatial boundaries (Ben-Soussan et al., 2019a).

Taken together, these techniques and their electrophysiological correlates (shown in **Table 3**) suggest a gradual shift from the Narrative Self and higher frequency bands toward the Minimal Self and then toward Overcoming of the Self and lower frequency bands that we are proposing with the present mini-review.

In **Table 4**, we also highlight the spatial localization of the EEG results reported in this mini-review. It is possible to see that Alpha and Theta frequency bands display the most consistent results with predominant frontal activity, while Gamma and

Delta frequency bands are less spatially localized. One possible explanation for these results could be the scale-dependent mechanism highlighted by Von Stein and Sarnthein (2000) for visual processing. The authors proposed that the more local the synchronization, the higher the frequency involved. In particular, they showed that "local interactions during visual processing involve gamma frequency dynamics, semantical interactions between temporal and parietal cortex involve beta frequency dynamics, and very long-range interactions [...] a low theta or alpha frequency range."

Although these conclusion concern visual processing, they appear highly relevant because they are consistent with the findings reported in **Table 4** and they offer a cogent explanation as to why the Delta frequency band is more globally distributed than other "faster" frequencies. In addition, Von Stein and Sarnthein (2000) stated that Alpha and Theta frequencies seem to be "specifically involved in processing of internal mental context" which is in line with the role that these frequency **TABLE 4** | Summary of main studies and their localization.

	Meditation	Self	Results		Area localization
amma	OM	NS	+	Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2012	Parieto-Occipital
	Multiple	NS	+	Berman and Stevens, 2015	Frontal, Central, Parietal, Temporal, and Occipita
	Multiple	NS	+	Hinterberger et al., 2014	Central and Parietal
	Multiple	NS	+	Lehmann et al., 2001	Frontal and Temporo-Parietal
	Neurofeedback	NS	١	Van Lutterveld et al., 2017	PCC
	OM/FA	MS	+	Cahn et al., 2010	Parieto-Occipital
	FA	MS	-	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016	Central
	LKM	MS	+	Lutz et al., 2004	Frontal and Temporo-Parietal
	ND	OTS		Flor-Henry et al., 2004	Parietal
			+		
	ND	OTS	+	Huels et al., 2021	N/A
	FA	OTS	-	Travis et al., 2010	Frontal and Temporal
eta	Multiple	NS/MS	+	Dunn et al., 1999	Central and Parietal
	FA	MS	-	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016	Central
	OM	MS	-	Faber et al., 2015	Central and Parietal
	FA	MS	-	Travis et al., 2010	Frontal and Parietal
	ND	OTS	+	Flor-Henry et al., 2017	Frontal
	Multiple	OTS	-	Hinterberger et al., 2014	Parietal
	Multiple	OTS	١	Lehmann et al., 2012	Central
pha	Multiple	NS	١	Marzetti et al., 2014	PCC
	FA	NS	١	Rodriguez-Larios and Alaerts, 2021	N/A
	FA	MS	+	Aftanas and Golosheykin, 2005	Frontal
	FA	MS	+	Banquet, 1973	Frontal
	FA	MS	+	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016	Frontal and Temporo-Parietal
	Multiple	MS	+	Dunn et al., 1999	Central and Parietal
	OM	MS		Faber et al., 2015	Frontal and Temporal
	OM	MS	+		
			+	Kasamatsu and Hirai, 1966	Frontal
	OM	MS	\	Kerr et al., 2013	Central
	OM	MS	+	Murata et al., 1994	Frontal
	OM	MS	+	Murata et al., 2004	Frontal
	OM	MS	١	Rodriguez-Larios et al., 2020	N/A
	OM	MS	+	Takahashi et al., 2005	Frontal
	FA	MS	+	Wallace et al., 1971	Frontal
	FA	MS	+	Yamamoto et al., 2006	Frontal
	Multiple	OTS	+	Berman and Stevens, 2015	Frontal, Central, Parietal, Temporal, and Occipita
	ND	OTS	+	Flor-Henry et al., 2017	Frontal, Temporal, Parietal and Occipital
	Multiple	OTS	+	Hinterberger et al., 2014	Parietal
	OM	OTS	-	Lo et al., 2003	N/A
	FA	OTS	+	Travis et al., 2010	Frontal and Central
	OM	OTS	-	Winter et al., 2020	Parietal
neta	OM/FA	NS	+	Lutz et al., 2009	Frontal
	FA	NS	Ň	Rodriguez-Larios and Alaerts, 2021	N/A
	FA	MS	+	Aftanas and Golosheykin, 2005	Frontal
	FA	MS	Ň	Baijal and Srinivasan, 2010	Frontal Increase, Parietal Decrease
	OM/FA	MS	+	Cahn et al., 2010	Frontal
	FA				
		MS	+	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016	Frontal and Temporo-Parietal
	Multiple	MS	+	Dunn et al., 1999	Frontal, Central, Parietal, Temporal, and Occipita
	OM	MS	+	Kubota et al., 2001	Frontal
	OM	MS	+	Murata et al., 1994	Frontal
	OM	MS	١	Rodriguez-Larios et al., 2020	N/A
	OM	MS	+	Takahashi et al., 2005	Frontal
	Multiple	OTS	+	Berman and Stevens, 2015	Frontal, Central, Parietal, Temporal, and Occipita
	ND	OTS	+	Flor-Henry et al., 2017	Frontal and Temporo-Parietal
	Multiple	OTS	-	Hinterberger et al., 2014	Frontal, Central, Parietal, Temporal, and Occipita

(Continued)

TABLE 4 | (Continued)

	Meditation	Self	Results		Area localization
Delta	OM/FA	MS	-	Cahn et al., 2010	Frontal
	Multiple	MS	+	Dunn et al., 1999	Frontal and Parietal
	OM	MS	+	Faber et al., 2008	PFC
	Multiple	MS	١	Lehmann et al., 2012	Frontal and Parietal
	FA	MS	١	Tei et al., 2009	Frontal Increase; Central, Parietal, and Temporal Decrease
	Multiple	OTS	+	Berman and Stevens, 2015	Frontal, Central, Parietal, Temporal, and Occipital
	ND	OTS	+		Temporal
	Multiple	OTS	-		Frontal, Central, Parietal, Temporal, and Occipital
	ND	OTS	+		N/A
	ND	OTS	+		N/A

Reviews were excluded from this table. Not applicable (N/A) are studies without a clear or not reported localization of results. Main hypotheses are colored in blue scale (with increasingly dark blue color as the findings relate toward the center of the sphere).

bands have in the proposed electro-topography model and in the previous literature (Takahashi et al., 2005; Jensen and Mazaheri, 2010; Klimesch, 2012; Benedek, 2018; Cona et al., 2020), further supporting our hypothesis.

Suggested Hypothesis Testing and Application

First-Person Phenomenology and Self-Awareness

Probably the biggest challenge in the study of consciousness is how to deal with the first-person subjective experience within an objective measurable framework. According to the SMC, all phenomenal characteristics of experience can be placed along three axes: Time, Emotion, and Self-Determination (see Figure 1; Paoletti, 2002a; Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2019, 2020, 2021). The highest degree of self-awareness can be represented as an equal relationship between the periphery of the sphere, or the extremes of the axes on which the features of first-person experience are placed, and the center, where we place consciousness-as-such/non-dual consciousness. While the spherical matrix of the model provides a diagram for representing first-person experience, our hypotheses on the electro-topography of the Selves might enable us in future studies to find neurophysiological correlates for first-person experience. For instance, recalling Raffone et al. (2019) argument about the Beta frequency (the possibility of different levels or grades of selfawareness within each dimension of Self), we might observe this frequency in a state of self-projection as well in FA meditation with good self-awareness.

Our model may also serve as a guideline to refine the research on correlates to self-awareness phenomenology: when Beta is present, for example, we hypothesize a connection with the Narrative Self, but can we also detect differences in its coherence, amplitude, and localization in specific brain areas? What would that imply? For example, can we detect electrophysiological brain correlates in areas suggested in different models as the main areas for consciousness correlation–like Broadman Area 10 (Raffone and Srinivasan, 2009) or the precuneus (Josipovic, 2019)–according to the Self we are observing?

Since several works have already been published on the topic, we will only focus briefly on the problem of ineffability (see Section "The Problem of Ineffability"), and then present

several difficulties that have not (with few exceptions) been sufficiently addressed yet in the research literature, such as the sleep-wakefulness continuum (see also Section "The Sleep-Wakefulness Continuum") and the distinction between higher and altered states of consciousness (see Section "The Importance of Differentiating Between Altered and Higher States of Consciousness"). As detailed above (Section "The Sphere Model of Consciousness, Hierarchy of Selves, and Executive Functions"), the Minimal Self and the Narrative Self appear to be more directly related to executive functions (EFs), while the Overcoming of the Self presents us with the problem of ineffability, which will now be shortly addressed.

The Problem of Ineffability

In order to electrophysiologically and behaviorally map the different Selves, we need to distinguish between consciousness and its contents and, consequently, deal with the challenge of ineffability. One of the main obstacles in studying and quantifying higher states of consciousness is the ineffability of subjective experiences. When one's sense of self "disappears," as is reported in first-person accounts of the Overcoming of the Self, we encounter something hardly measurable by the same behavioral and cognitive parameters used to assess other states of the Self which are mostly identified with/described by the processes involved (e.g., Narrative Self is associated with autobiographical processes and conceptual contents; Gallagher, 2000; Oatley, 2007). Yet, taking neurophenomenological studies for reference, we can electrophysiologically measure whether consciousness-without-content or non-dual awareness is in line with some of the correlates for that state, as suggested by the most recent models of consciousness proposed by Raffone and Srinivasan (2009); Metzinger (2018), and Josipovic (2019). These models conceptualize consciousness-without-content, non-dual awareness, and the Overcoming of the Self (in the case of the SMC) which can be easily measured using EEG. Indeed, various attempts are being made to do so (Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2017). For this reason, the hypothesized electrophysiological model could provide an interesting index (i.e., increase in Delta frequency band) to identify the state in which any sense of self disappears and reportable cognitive processes and behavioral measures become less informative.

The Sleep-Wakefulness Continuum

Another possible application for the proposed electrotopographic model is in the examination and differentiation of various states of wakefulness. More specifically, the sleepwakefulness continuum is often treated as dichotomous, but various cultures have described different states of awareness outside this dichotomy (Walsh and Vaughan, 1993). One of these states is the outcome of transcendent meditation: a deeply restful state but with fully alert inner wakefulness (Alexander and Sands, 1993). Utilizing this state of consciousness as an example of an "in-between state" along the sleep-wakefulness continuum, we will apply our proposed model to explore if the proposed electro-topography matches the electroencephalography findings in the literature.

Further, considering the phenomenological description of transcendental consciousness as a profound state of relaxation but with preserved awareness, and following the SMC-based hypotheses presented in this paper, we postulate that this state of consciousness will be found associated with increased activity in Alpha and Theta bands (Wallace et al., 1971; Banquet, 1973; Mason et al., 1997; Yamamoto et al., 2006).

For example, Theta plays important role in memory encoding and consolidation during sleep (for a review, see Rasch and Born, 2007). Nonetheless, as Kirov et al. (2009) demonstrated, application of transcranial slow oscillation stimulation (tSOS) can enhance the process of memory consolidation not only during sleep (Marshall et al., 2006), but also in wakeful states. This enhancement was accompanied by a widespread increase of Theta activity (Kirov et al., 2009). Thus, the hypothesized correlation between the Theta frequency and the Minimal Self could help in understanding differences in states of awareness along the sleep-wakefulness continuum, and to further expanding its currently dichotomous definition into more subtle distinctions between different wakefulness states.

The Importance of Differentiating Between Altered and Higher States of Consciousness

So far, we have demonstrated how the hypothesized model is in alignment with different meditation traditions. In addition, we further suggested that the current hypothesized electrotopography could be useful in guiding new contemplative neuroscience investigations into differentiating Altered States (AS) from Higher States (HS) of consciousness. Altered States (AS) are traditionally defined as "*a qualitative alteration in the overall pattern of mental functioning, such that the experiencer feels consciousness radically differently from the 'normal' way it functions. It should be noted that an AS is not defined by a particular content of consciousness, behavior, or physiologic change, but in terms of overall patterning.*" (Tart, 1972; for a review on neurobiological basis of AS, see also Vaitl et al., 2005).

However, not all AS are alike. While higher states of consciousness are accompanied by improved executive functionality, the opposite is true for many cases of drug-induced AS. Moreover, electrophysiologically, HS are accompanied by slower frequency bands and are considered more integrated states (Mason et al., 1997), while EEG and MRI studies of

drug-induced AS report an opposite trend that could be regarded as fragmentation and consequent deregulation.

Moreover, an important distinction must be made between general AS and HS. According to Tart (1972), higher states, in particular, can be associated with superior cognitive functioning or can be more profound than other states; these states can include insights into oneself, insights into others, intuitive understanding of the nature of the universe, or comprehension of an individual's place in the overall scheme of things (in relation to insight, see also Section The Sphere Model of Consciousness and Self Are Dynamic below). Although this description is phenomenologically exhaustive, it is not sufficient (as acknowledged by the author) to distinguish "*any unequivocally higher state*" Electrophysiology, therefore, could be a reliable method to reach a more precise discrimination between HS and AS.

Electrophysiological studies and the proposed model can, indeed, help in differentiating between AS and HS of consciousness. Although this is not the aim of the paper, we will focus briefly on the differentiation between contemplativeinduced HS of consciousness versus drug-induced AS, in order to provide a preliminary framework. To examine our hypothesis, we reviewed the literature from the perspective of its applicability to SMC electro-topography. We found that the main difference between AS and HS is primarily in Alpha and

TABLE 5 Summary of examined studies regarding Alpha Frequency in Altered States (AS) and Higher States (HS) differentiation.

	Study	State achievement	Alpha
Altered States of Consciousness	Fink, 1969	LSD Intake	+
	Sannita et al., 1987	Scopolamine Intake	_
	Sloan et al., 1992	Scopolamine Intake	_
	Neufeld et al., 1994	Scopolamine Intake	-
	Ebert et al., 2001	Scopolamine Intake	_
	Riba et al., 2002	Ayahuasca Intake	_
	Osipova et al., 2003	Scopolamine Intake	_
	Riba et al., 2004	Ayahuasca Intake	_
	Muthukumaraswamy et al., 2013	Psilocybin Intake	-
	Kometer et al., 2015	Psilocybin Intake	_
	Carhart-Harris et al., 2016	LSD Intake	-
Higher States of Consciousness	Travis et al., 2002	Trascendent Meditation	+
	Abdullah and Omar, 2011	Religious Contemplation	+
	Doufesh et al., 2012	Religious Contemplation	+
	Doufesh et al., 2014	Religious Contemplation	+
	Vaghefi et al., 2015	Religious Contemplation	+
	Berman and Stevens, 2015	Multiple types of Meditation) +
	DeLosAngeles et al., 2016	Concentrative Meditation	+
	Al-Galal and Alshaikhli, 2017	Religious Contemplation	+
	Wahbeh et al., 2018	Trascendent Meditation	+
	Barcelona et al., 2020	Religious Contemplation	+

higher frequencies: HS are consistently related to increased Alpha activity while AS displays reduced Alpha activity in this EEG band (see Table 5). Taken together, in HS, deep states of meditation and attention are achieved through discipline and focus which largely involve EF training. While achievement of an AS is easier, often being driven by consumed substances, there is a lesser degree of control over the whole experience. This lesser degree of intentional and skillful navigation of the experiences could undermine the replicability and increase possible dangers related to drug-induced AS compared to the safety and replicability of HS. A good example for this, would be a professional athlete or dancer that can intentionally and reliably perform difficult and potentially dangerous movements compared to a novice that perform the same actions by chance, risking injuries and without being able to replicate or even know how that happened. This example is also quite fitting to the findings of Fink et al. (2009), who found increased Alpha activity in professional dancers compared to novices during mental creation of dances.

To sum up, HS could be linked to increased Alpha activity because these states entail effort and inhibition in controlling the process, while AS could be related to disinhibition and loss of control as reflected by overall decreased Alpha activity. This could be explained by the proposed electro-topography model as the result of increased internally directed attention and embodiment (Minimal Self) during the process of achieving HS, which is lacking during a drug-induced AS.

LIMITATIONS AND CONSIDERATIONS IN THE INTERPRETATION OF THE MODEL

Despite the supporting evidence, there are limitations to the proposed model that should be acknowledged. First, the electrotopographic model may seem oversimplified because, as depicted, the examined frequency bands often underlie a wide range of different cognitive functions. However, we are not suggesting that a given meditation type, for instance, is exclusively associated with one frequency band's activity, but rather we hypothesize that a specific meditation type relies more on that frequency than others. Of necessity, the graphic depiction of this requires some simplification.

In addition, there are two patterns of results that apparently contradict to our hypothesis. First, regarding our hypothesis that the Minimal Self primarily involves Alpha and Theta frequencies, paradoxically, some findings in the literature have reported increased Alpha and Theta activity during mind-wandering (Rodriguez-Larios et al., 2020; Rodriguez-Larios and Alaerts, 2021), which is related to the Narrative Self. However, this could also be attributed to retrieval and manipulation of memory information (Bastiaansen et al., 2002; Jensen et al., 2002; Sauseng et al., 2002, 2004, 2005a,b; Moran et al., 2010; see also Staresina and Wimber, 2019 for a review). Second, increased Gamma/decreased Delta during deep meditation could be related to the central role that Gamma plays in brain mechanisms underlying information processing (Lehmann et al., 2001). Increased Gamma activity could also be related to

the spiritual/religious/mystic aspects of the meditative state (Beauregard et al., 2009) and therefore to higher states of consciousness with fullness of content, while lower frequency bands (Delta, Theta, and Alpha) could be related to states of thoughtless emptiness (meaning higher yet content-less states). Perhaps further discrimination between "deeper" states, taking into consideration not only the level of consciousness involved but also the content of those states, would be worthwhile to explore in future research.

A further aspect to consider in future research is the strong relationship among phenomenological experiences, EFs, and electrophysiology that have been reported across many studies exploring the concept of Self. Future studies should explore these relationships in a systematic way, taking into consideration different styles of meditation (see Gallant, 2016 for a review examining EFs with regard to mindfulness meditation).

What is more, as mentioned in the Introduction, the subjective dimension of self-awareness remains inescapable. For instance, based on Raffone et al. (2019) review, we can argument about the possibility of different levels or grades of self-awareness within each dimension of Self, namely, we might observe Beta frequency in a state of self-projection as well in FA meditation with good self-awareness.

The Sphere Model of Consciousness and Self Are Dynamic

The proposed model is dynamic in several noteworthy ways. As the Self is dynamic, so might one oscillate between meditative states during meditation practice. For example, movement between FA and OM often occurs (Laukkonen and Slagter, 2021). In the same way, mechanisms and functions underlying the Self could also be dynamic: an active and intentional effort could dynamically restructure self-awareness, consciousness, and EFs in different ways. Indeed, two of the most studied phenomena that share some form of self-awareness and restructuring with meditation are cognitive reappraisal⁵ and insight.⁶

Many studies identify an association between Gamma and the process of achieving deeper states of meditation, as well as with the degree of visual imagery involved in these states. In particular,

⁵Reappraisal refers to the act of changing the way one thinks about emotional events (for a review, see John and Gross, 2004). In particular, cognitive reappraisal strategies have been investigated mainly in relation to aversive stimuli (Ochsner et al., 2004; Banks et al., 2007; Kanske et al., 2011; Schulze et al., 2011). This cognitive strategy for emotional regulation has been found to be strongly related to contemplative practices. Garland et al. (2009, 2010, 2011) and Garland and Howard (2013) theorized that mindfulness training can facilitate cognitive reappraisal. Moreover, Hanley et al. (2014) demonstrated that a substantial proportion of practitioners who use a wide range of contemplative practices reportedly engaged in mindful reappraisal techniques as a means of coping with serious stressors or the hassles of everyday life.

⁶Insight is a sudden comprehension, the famous "*Eureka!*" that can result in a new interpretation, a reorganization or restructuring of the elements of a situation and can point to the solution to a problem (Sternberg and Davidson, 1995). This definition seems to be very similar to the following description of a sudden transformation occurring during meditation: "*A common experience for long term meditators is that the 'new' knowledge being encoded is, paradoxically, the experience of a thought-free state transforming all phenomena into novelty. Phenomena become new because "there is no succession of perception of this knowledge; it takes in all things simultaneously, at a glance*" (Nikhilananda, 1956, pp. 203; from Horan, 2009).

the Gamma band could be associated with the hyper-focused attention required to *achieve* non-dual states, but not with the non-dual state itself (Berman and Stevens, 2015). This could be due to the relationship between Gamma, and meditation, cognitive reappraisal, and insight⁷ (Jung-Beeman et al., 2004): These processes rely on a restructuring of awareness producing similar effects (e.g., sudden and clear solutions; new perception of emotional stimuli). However, these could also be reached through different mechanisms: active and intentional efforts to solve a problem rely, at least partly, on executive functions (Sandkühler and Bhattacharya, 2008; Schmeichel et al., 2008). Meditation, in contrast, may rely on deeper and more self-less states that involve less conceptual processing.

From an electrophysiological point of view, as discussed earlier, different investigations have found decreased prefrontal Alpha activity during reappraisal (Parvaz et al., 2012; Choi et al., 2016; Li et al., 2021) in association with increased prefrontal Theta activity (Ertl et al., 2013). Possible generators of frontal Theta oscillations have been suggested to reside in the medial prefrontal cortex (PFC)/anterior cingulate complex (ACC) (Pizzagalli et al., 2002; Mulert et al., 2007a,b). However, although the ACC is notably one of the areas most associated with insight (Dietrich and Kanso, 2010), it is thought to prompt weak, subconscious solutions (Kounios and Beeman, 2009).

What could be the reason for these similarities in brain activity? One reason for shared areas and electrophysiological correlates is that both cognitive reappraisal and insight have been associated with core EFs, such as working memory processes (Schmeichel et al., 2008). For example, frontal Theta activity in the ACC has been found to increase with task difficulty and memory demands (Gevins et al., 1997; Lazarev, 1998; Kahana et al., 1999; Wilson et al., 1999; Krause et al., 2000; but see Bastiaansen et al., 2002). Successful retrieval is also associated with activity in the Theta band (Weiss and Rappelsberger, 2000; Klimesch et al., 2001; Sederberg et al., 2003). Thus, such similarities could result from the involvement of wider, more global functions that underlie all the Self states.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, to our knowledge, this is the first attempt to systematically integrate electrophysiological accounts with different Selves and meditation practices. Our core proposal is that there is an electro-topographic hierarchy of the Selves that mirrors the hierarchy of meditation types. We have shown a parallel between FA/OM/ND and NS/MS/OCS in which Gamma and Beta = the Narrative Self and Focused Attention meditation; Alpha and Theta = the Minimal Self and Open Monitoring meditation; and Delta = Overcoming of the Self and Non-Dual meditation. Our evidence should be viewed as preliminary since these are complex processes that involve many different areas, networks, and frequency bands all at once. Future studies should examine the parallel between the electrophysiological change and the neurophenomenological shift between Selves, employing different training paradigms that utilize whole brain analysis of different frequency bands.

Moreover, we also highlighted how the frequency bands involved in both hierarchies are associated with EFs. Future behavioral and electrophysiological studies should aim to assess how EFs in general, and their components in specific, could play a critical role in structuring the Self and in the switching between different states (for a very recent review on mapping EFs and their components using electrical subcortical stimulation, see Landers et al., 2021).

Additionally, given the aforementioned role of neuronal noise in "identity confusion" (Sugimura et al., 2021) and the lack of it in feelings of identity consistency and integration, future studies should also explore possible parallels between phenomenological and electrophysiological silence, which is a very common feature in meditative practices (for empirical and theoretical contributions to neural, psychological, and contemplative correlates of silence, see Ben-Soussan et al., 2021).

Although a comprehensive electrophysiological model encompassing all frequency bands and their dynamicsincluding detailed temporal and spatial localization evidence-is still far from being achieved, there are relevant findings in recent literature that offer potential direction for future studies. For example, a recent work of Rodriguez-Larios et al. (2020) examined the Alpha-Theta cross-frequency coupling and considered these two frequency bands and their dynamics during meditation. This is particularly interesting because authors not only examined Alpha and Theta bands from the point of view of a linear increased/decreased activity, but also how reciprocal changes in these frequencies' activity (especially their ratio) could facilitate meditation training. Such dynamics were also explored in the field of neurofeedback, in which the importance of the Alpha/Theta ratio in relation to creativity and artistic performance was emphasized (Gruzelier, 2009; Gruzelier et al., 2014a,b). These findings may offer directions for expanding and refining our proposed electrotopography. Moreover, these directions should orient and guide the field of consciousness studies and contemplative neuroscience, which should systematically start reporting all the different frequency bands and to integrate evidence concerning electroencephalographic dynamics into the various models that currently exist.

In summary, based on the presented evidence, we suggest that the Narrative Self may be related to reduced self-awareness in the "here and now" compared to the Minimal Self that is more mindful. Further, shifting between the Narrative Self to the Minimal Self correlates with an increase in self-awareness which, in turn, correlates with slower frequency bands, namely, Alpha and Theta oscillation (Paoletti and Ben-Soussan, 2020). The third state of Overcoming of the Self correlates with increasingly slower frequency bands, namely, Delta. Similarly, different kinds of meditations align with the same electrophysiological hierarchy. However, this does not necessarily imply that one meditation is better than another in enhancing self-awareness, only that there is a gradual shift in self-awareness' phenomenology (Laukkonen and Slagter, 2021).

⁷This could also explain the difference in Gamma between experienced and novice meditators (i.e., less Gamma = less effort among experienced meditators in achieving a non-dual state). For example, long-term Vipassana meditation contributes to increased occipital Gamma power and is related to long-term meditational expertise and enhanced sensory awareness (Cahn et al., 2010).

Our proposed model may aid in resolving some inconsistencies between different frequency bands and locations pointed to in previous studies as the main correlates of consciousness and meditative practices. According to our proposal, these different frequency bands and locations may result from the different attentional states and related Selves that were examined. The model can be tested and applied in different contexts such as in the examination of advanced meditative states, higher states versus altered states, and levels of wakefulness. Accordingly, this new electro-topographic framework of the Self and meditation may more easily facilitate greater understanding of the connections between them, with implications for research

REFERENCES

- Abdullah, A. A., and Omar, Z. (2011). The effect of temporal EEG signals while listening to Quran recitation. Int. J. Adv. Sci. Eng. Inform. Technol. 1, 372–375. doi: 10.18517/ijaseit.1.4.77
- Aftanas, L., and Golosheykin, S. (2005). Impact of regular meditation practice on EEG activity at rest and during evoked negative emotions. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 115, 893–909. doi: 10.1080/00207450590897969
- Aftanas, L. I., and Golocheikine, S. A. (2001). Human anterior and frontal midline theta and lower alpha reflect emotionally positive state and internalized attention: high-resolution EEG investigation of meditation. *Neurosci. Lett.* 310, 57–60. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3940(01)02094-8
- Alexander, C. N., and Sands, D. (1993). "Meditation and relaxation," in *McGill's Guide of the Social Sciences: Psychology*, ed. F. N. McGill (Pasadena, CA: Salem Press), 1499–1505.
- Al-Galal, S. A., and Alshaikhli, I. F. T. (2017). Analyzing brainwaves while listening to quranic recitation compared with listening to music based on EEG signals. *Int. J. Percept. Cogn. Comput.* 3, 1–5.
- Anderson, V. (2002). Executive function in children: introduction. Child Neuropsychol. 8, 69–70. doi: 10.1076/chin.8.2.69.8725
- Ardila, A. (2016). Is "self-consciousness" equivalent to "executive function"? Psychol. Neurosci. 9:215. doi: 10.1037/pne0000052
- Baerentsen, K. B., Hartvig, N. V., Stødkilde-Jørgensen, H., and Mammen, J. (2001). Onset of meditation explored with fMRI. *Neuroimage* 6:297. doi: 10.1016/ s1053-8119(01)91640-4
- Baijal, S., and Srinivasan, N. (2010). Theta activity and meditative states: spectral changes during concentrative meditation. *Cogn. Process.* 11, 31–38. doi: 10. 1007/s10339-009-0272-0
- Banks, S. J., Eddy, K. T., Angstadt, M., Nathan, P. J., and Phan, K. L. (2007). Amygdala-frontal connectivity during emotion regulation. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 2, 303–312. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsm029
- Banquet, J. P. (1973). Spectral analysis of the EEG in meditation. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 35, 143–151. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(73)90170-3
- Barcelona, J., Fahlman, M., Churakova, Y., Canjels, R., Mallare, J., and Van Den Heuvel, M. I. (2020). Frontal alpha asymmetry during prayerful and resting states: an EEG study in Catholic sisters. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 155, 9–15. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2020.04.019
- Barkley, R. A. (2001). The executive functions and self-regulation: an evolutionary neuropsychological perspective. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 11, 1–29. doi: 10.1023/a: 1009085417776
- Barrett, L. F., and Satpute, A. B. (2013). Large-scale brain networks in affective and social neuroscience: towards an integrative functional architecture of the brain. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 23, 361–372. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2012.12.012
- Bastiaansen, M. C., Posthuma, D., Groot, P. F., and De Geus, E. J. (2002). Eventrelated alpha and theta responses in a visuo-spatial working memory task. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 113, 1882–1893. doi: 10.1016/s1388-2457(02)00303-6
- Beauregard, M., Courtemanche, J., and Paquette, V. (2009). Brain activity in neardeath experiencers during a meditative state. *Resuscitation* 80, 1006–1010. doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2009.05.006

in wakefulness states, altered states of consciousness, and executive functions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PP was the creator of the Sphere Model of Consciousness and contributed parts related to the neuro-psychological applications of his model. TB-S mostly contributed to the electro-topographic map of the self. RL mostly contributed parts related to the executive functions. MP conducted the mini-review. All authors contributed to the article hypothesis, writing, and approved the submitted version.

- Benedek, M. (2018). "Internally directed attention in creative cognition," in *The Cambridge Handbook of the Neuroscience of Creativity*, eds R. E. Jung and O. Vartanian (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 180–194. doi: 10.1017/9781316556238.011
- Ben-Soussan, T. D., Avirame, K., Glicksohn, J., Goldstein, A., Harpaz, Y., and Ben-Shachar, M. (2014a). Changes in cerebellar activity and inter-hemispheric coherence accompany improved reading performance following Quadrato motor training. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 8:81. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2014.00081
- Ben-Soussan, T. D., Berkovich-Ohana, A., Glicksohn, J., and Goldstein, A. (2014b). A suspended act: increased reflectivity and gender-dependent electrophysiological change following Quadrato Motor Training. *Front. Psychol.* 5:55. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00055
- Ben-Soussan, T. D., Glicksohn, J., Ohana, A. B., Donchin, O., and Goldstein, A. (2011). Step in time: changes in EEG coherence during a time estimation task following Quadrato Motor Training. *Proc. Fechner Day* 27, 239–244.
- Ben-Soussan, T. D., Glicksohn, J., De Fano, A., Mauro, F., Marson, F., Modica, M., et al. (2019b). Embodied time: time production in advanced Quadrato and Aikido practitioners. *PsyCh J.* 8, 8–16. doi: 10.1002/pchj.266
- Ben-Soussan, T. D., Mauro, F., Lasaponara, S., Glicksohn, J., Marson, F., and Berkovich-Ohana, A. (2019a). Fully immersed: state absorption and electrophysiological effects of the OVO whole-body perceptual deprivation chamber. *Prog. Brain Res.* 244, 165–184. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2018.10.023
- Ben-Soussan, T. D., Srinivasan, N., Glicksohn, J., Beziau, J. Y., Carducci, F., and Berkovich-Ohana, A. (2021). Neurophysiology of silence: neuroscientific, psychological, educational and contemplative perspectives. *Front. Psychol.* 12:675614. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.675614
- Berkovich-Ohana, A., Dor-Ziderman, Y., Glicksohn, J., and Goldstein, A. (2013). Alterations in the sense of time, space, and body in the mindfulness-trained brain: a neurophenomenologically-guided MEG study. *Front. Psychol.* 4:912. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00912
- Berkovich-Ohana, A., Glicksohn, J., Ben-Soussan, T. D., and Goldstein, A. (2017). Creativity is enhanced by long-term mindfulness training and is negatively correlated with trait default-mode-related low-gamma inter-hemispheric connectivity. *Mindfulness* 8, 717–727. doi: 10.1007/s12671-016-0649-y
- Berkovich-Ohana, A., Glicksohn, J., and Goldstein, A. (2012). Mindfulnessinduced changes in gamma band activity–implications for the default mode network, self-reference and attention. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 123, 700–710. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2011.07.048
- Berman, A. E., and Stevens, L. (2015). EEG manifestations of nondual experiences in meditators. *Conscious. Cogn.* 31, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2014.10.002
- Bortolan, A. (2020). Affectivity and the distinction between minimal and narrative self. Continent. Philos. Rev. 53, 67–84. doi: 10.1111/mcn.13141
- Braboszcz, C., Cahn, B. R., Levy, J., Fernandez, M., and Delorme, A. (2017). Increased gamma brainwave amplitude compared to control in three different meditation traditions. *PLoS One* 12:e0170647. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0170647
- Britton, W. B., Lindahl, J. R., Cahn, B. R., Davis, J. H., and Goldman, R. E. (2014). Awakening is not a metaphor: the effects of Buddhist meditation practices on basic wakefulness. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1307:64. doi: 10.1111/nyas.1 2279

- Brown, K. W., and Leary, M. R. (eds) (2016). *The Oxford Handbook of Hypo-Egoic Phenomena*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cahn, B. R., Delorme, A., and Polich, J. (2010). Occipital gamma activation during Vipassana meditation. *Cogn. Process.* 11, 39–56. doi: 10.1007/s10339-009-0352-1
- Cahn, B. R., Delorme, A., and Polich, J. (2013). Event-related delta, theta, alpha and gamma correlates to auditory oddball processing during Vipassana meditation. *Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci.* 8, 100–111. doi: 10.1093/scan/nss060
- Carhart-Harris, R. L., Bolstridge, M., Rucker, J., Day, C. M., Erritzoe, D., Kaelen, M., et al. (2016). Psilocybin with psychological support for treatment-resistant depression: an open-label feasibility study. *Lancet Psychiatry* 3, 619–627.
- Carhart-Harris, R. L., Leech, R., Hellyer, P. J., Shanahan, M., Feilding, A., Tagliazucchi, E., et al. (2014). The entropic brain: a theory of conscious states informed by neuroimaging research with psychedelic drugs. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:20. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00020
- Charles, G. L., Travis, F., and Smith, J. (2014). Policing and spirituality: their impact on brain integration and consciousness. J. Manag. Spirit. Relig. 11, 230–244. doi: 10.1080/14766086.2014.887479
- Chen, A. C., Feng, W., Zhao, H., Yin, Y., and Wang, P. (2008). EEG default mode network in the human brain: spectral regional field powers. *Neuroimage* 41, 561–574. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.12.064
- Choi, D., Sekiya, T., Minote, N., and Watanuki, S. (2016). Relative left frontal activity in reappraisal and suppression of negative emotion: evidence from frontal alpha asymmetry (FAA). *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 109, 37–44. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijpsycho.2016.09.018
- Cona, G., Chiossi, F., Di Tomasso, S., Pellegrino, G., Piccione, F., Bisiacchi, P., et al. (2020). Theta and alpha oscillations as signatures of internal and external attention to delayed intentions: a magnetoencephalography (MEG) study. *NeuroImage* 205:116295. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116295
- Cooper, N. R., Croft, R. J., Dominey, S. J., Burgess, A. P., and Gruzelier, J. H. (2003). Paradox lost? Exploring the role of alpha oscillations during externally vs. internally directed attention and the implications for idling and inhibition hypotheses. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 47, 65–74. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8760(02)00107-1
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Beyond Boredom and Anxiety. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- DeLosAngeles, D., Williams, G., Burston, J., Fitzgibbon, S. P., Lewis, T. W., Grummett, T. S., et al. (2016). Electroencephalographic correlates of states of concentrative meditation. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 110, 27–39. doi: 10.1016/j. ijpsycho.2016.09.020
- Dentico, D., Ferrarelli, F., Riedner, B. A., Smith, R., Zennig, C., Lutz, A., et al. (2016). Short meditation trainings enhance non-REM sleep low-frequency oscillations. *PLoS One* 11:e0148961. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148961
- Depraz, N., Varela, F. J., and Vermersch, P. (2000). "The gesture of awareness: an account of its structural dynamics," in *Investigating Phenomenal Consciousness*, ed. M. Velmans (Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company), 121–136. doi: 10.1075/aicr.13.10dep
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 64, 135-168.
- Dietrich, A., and Kanso, R. (2010). A review of EEG, ERP, and neuroimaging studies of creativity and insight. *Psychol. Bull.* 136:822. doi: 10.1037/a0019749
- Dor-Ziderman, Y., Berkovich-Ohana, A., Glicksohn, J., and Goldstein, A. (2013). Mindfulness-induced selflessness: a MEG neurophenomenological study. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:582. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00582
- Dotan Ben-Soussan, T., Glicksohn, J., Goldstein, A., Berkovich-Ohana, A., and Donchin, O. (2013). Into the square and out of the box: the effects of Quadrato Motor Training on creativity and alpha coherence. *PLoS One* 8:e55023. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055023
- Doufesh, H., Faisal, T., Lim, K. S., and Ibrahim, F. (2012). EEG spectral analysis on muslim prayers. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 37, 11–18. doi: 10.1007/ s10484-011-9170-1
- Doufesh, H., Ibrahim, F., Ismail, N. A., and Wan Ahmad, W. A. (2014). Effect of Muslim prayer (Salat) on α electroencephalography and its relationship with autonomic nervous system activity. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 20, 558–562. doi: 10.1089/acm.2013.0426
- Dunn, B. R., Hartigan, J. A., and Mikulas, W. L. (1999). Concentration and mindfulness meditations: unique forms of consciousness? *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 24, 147–165. doi: 10.1023/a:10234986 29385

- Dunne, J. (2011). Toward an understanding of non-dual mindfulness. *Contemp. Buddhism* 12, 71–88. doi: 10.1080/14639947.2011.564820
- Ebert, U., Grossmann, M., Oertel, R., Gramatté, T., and Kirch, W. (2001). Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modeling of the electroencephalogram effects of scopolamine in healthy volunteers. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 41, 51–60. doi: 10.1177/00912700122009836
- Engel, A. K., Fries, P., and Singer, W. (2001). Dynamic predictions: oscillations and synchrony in top-down processing. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 704–716. doi: 10.1038/35094565
- Erikson, E. H. (1968). *Identity: Youth and Crisis (No. 7)*. New York, NY: WW Norton & company.
- Ertl, M., Hildebrandt, M., Ourina, K., Leicht, G., and Mulert, C. (2013). Emotion regulation by cognitive reappraisal—the role of frontal theta oscillations. *NeuroImage* 81, 412–421. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.044
- Faber, P. L., Lehmann, D., Gianotti, L. R., Milz, P., Pascual-Marqui, R. D., Held, M., et al. (2015). Zazen meditation and no-task resting EEG compared with LORETA intracortical source localization. *Cogn. Process.* 16, 87–96. doi: 10. 1007/s10339-014-0637-x
- Faber, P. L., Steiner, M. E., Lehmann, D., Pascual-Marqui, R. D., Jancke, L., Esslen, M., et al. (2008). Deactivation of the medial prefrontal cortex in experienced Zen meditators. *Brain Topogr.* 20:172.
- Fell, J., Axmacher, N., and Haupt, S. (2010). From alpha to gamma: electrophysiological correlates of meditation-related states of consciousness. *Med. Hypotheses* 75, 218–224. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2010.02.025
- Fell, J., Fernandez, G., Klaver, P., Elger, C. E., and Fries, P. (2003). Is synchronized neuronal gamma activity relevant for selective attention? *Brain Res. Rev.* 42, 265–272. doi: 10.1016/s0165-0173(03)00178-4
- Fingelkurts, A. A., Fingelkurts, A. A., and Kallio-Tamminen, T. (2020). Selfhood triumvirate: from phenomenology to brain activity and back again. *Conscious. Cogn.* 86:103031. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2020.103031
- Fink, A., Graif, B., and Neubauer, A. C. (2009). Brain correlates underlying creative thinking: EEG alpha activity in professional vs. novice dancers. *NeuroImage* 46, 854–862. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.02.036
- Fink, M. (1969). EEG and human psychopharmacology. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol.* 9, 241–258. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pa.09.040169.001325
- Flor-Henry, P., Shapiro, Y., and Sombrun, C. (2017). Brain changes during a shamanic trance: altered modes of consciousness, hemispheric laterality, and systemic psychobiology. *Cogent. Psychol.* 4:1313522. doi: 10.1080/23311908. 2017.1313522
- Friend, M., and Bates, R. P. (2014). The union of narrative and executive function: different but complementary. *Front. Psychol.* 5:469. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014. 00469
- Gallagher, S. (2000). Philosophical conceptions of the self: implications for cognitive science. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 4, 14–21. doi: 10.1016/s1364-6613(99) 01417-5
- Gallagher, S., and Zahavi, D. (2020). The Phenomenological Mind. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Gallant, S. N. (2016). Mindfulness meditation practice and executive functioning: breaking down the benefit. *Conscious. Cogn.* 40, 116–130. doi: 10.1016/j.concog. 2016.01.005
- Garland, E., Gaylord, S., and Park, J. (2009). The role of mindfulness in positive reappraisal. *Explore* 5, 37–44. doi: 10.1016/j.explore.2008.10.001
- Garland, E. L., Fredrickson, B. L., Kring, A. M., Johnson, D. P., Meyer, P. S., and Penn, D. L. (2010). Upward spirals of positive emotions counter downward spirals of negativity: insights from the broaden and build theory and affective neuroscience on the treatment of emotion dysfunctions and deficits in psychopathology. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 30, 849–864. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.03. 002
- Garland, E. L., Gaylord, S. A., and Fredrickson, B. L. (2011). Positive reappraisal coping mediates the stress-reductive effect of mindfulness: an upward spiral process. *Mindfulness* 2, 59–67. doi: 10.1007/s12671-011-0043-8
- Garland, E. L., and Howard, M. O. (2013). Mindfulness-oriented recovery enhancement reduces pain attentional bias in chronic pain patients. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 82, 311–318. doi: 10.1159/000348868
- Gevins, A., Smith, M. E., McEvoy, L., and Yu, D. (1997). High-resolution EEG mapping of cortical activation related to working memory: effects of task difficulty, type of processing, and practice. *Cerebr. Cortex* 7, 374–385. doi: 10.1093/cercor/7.4.374

- Glicksohn, J., and Ben-Soussan, T. D. (2020). Immersion, absorption, and spiritual experience: some preliminary findings. *Front. Psychol.* 11:2118. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2020.02118
- Glicksohn, J., and Berkovich-Ohana, A. (2011). From trance to transcendence: a neurocognitive approach. J. Mind Behav. 32, 49–62.
- Glicksohn, J., and Berkovich-Ohana, A. (2012). "Absorption, immersion, and consciousness," in *Video Game Play and Consciousness*, ed. J. Gackenbach (Hauppauge, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 83–99.
- Glicksohn, J., Berkovich-Ohana, A., Mauro, F., and Ben-Soussan, T. D. (2019). Individual EEG alpha profiles are gender-dependent and indicate subjective experiences in whole-body perceptual deprivation. *Neuropsychologia* 125, 81– 92. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2019.01.018
- Grieger, R. M. (1985). From a linear to a contextual model of the ABCs of RET. *J. Ratio. Emot. Ther.* 3, 75–99.
- Gruzelier, J. (2009). A theory of alpha/theta neurofeedback, creative performance enhancement, long distance functional connectivity and psychological integration. *Cogn. Process.* 10, 101–109. doi: 10.1007/s10339-008-0 248-5
- Gruzelier, J. H., Foks, M., Steffert, T., Chen, M. L., and Ros, T. (2014a). Beneficial outcome from EEG-neurofeedback on creative music performance, attention and well-being in school children. *Biol. Psychol.* 95, 86–95. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsycho.2013.04.005
- Gruzelier, J. H., Thompson, T., Redding, E., Brandt, R., and Steffert, T. (2014b). Application of alpha/theta neurofeedback and heart rate variability training to young contemporary dancers: state anxiety and creativity. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 93, 105–111. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.05.004
- Hanley, A., Garland, E. L., and Black, D. S. (2014). Use of mindful reappraisal coping among meditation practitioners. J. Clin. Psychol. 70, 294–301. doi: 10. 1002/jclp.22023
- Heatherton, T. F. (2011). Neuroscience of self and self-regulation. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 62, 363–390. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.121208.131616
- Hinterberger, T., Schmidt, S., Kamei, T., and Walach, H. (2014). Decreased electrophysiological activity represents the conscious state of emptiness in meditation. *Front. Psychol.* 5:99. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00099
- Hofmann, W., Schmeichel, B. J., and Baddeley, A. D. (2012). Executive functions and self-regulation. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16, 174–180.
- Horan, R. (2009). The neuropsychological connection between creativity and meditation. *Creativ. Res. J.* 21, 199–222. doi: 10.1037/hop0000035
- Huels, E. R., Kim, H., Lee, U., Bel-Bahar, T., Colmenero, A. V., Nelson, A., et al. (2021). Neural correlates of the shamanic state of consciousness. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 15:140. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2021.610466
- Ivanovski, B., and Malhi, G. S. (2007). The psychological and neurophysiological concomitants of mindfulness forms of meditation. *Acta Neuropsychiatr.* 19, 76–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1601-5215.2007.00175.x
- Jackson, S. A., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1999). *Flow in Sports*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- James, W. (1890/1950). The Principles of Psychology. New York, NY: Dover.
- Jensen, O., Gelfand, J., Kounios, J., and Lisman, J. E. (2002). Oscillations in the alpha band (9–12 Hz) increase with memory load during retention in a short-term memory task. *Cerebr. Cortex* 12, 877–882. doi: 10.1093/cercor/12. 8.877
- Jensen, O., and Mazaheri, A. (2010). Shaping functional architecture by oscillatory alpha activity: gating by inhibition. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 4:186. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2010.00186
- Jerath, R., Crawford, M. W., and Barnes, V. A. (2015). A unified 3D default space consciousness model combining neurological and physiological processes that underlie conscious experience. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1204. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 01204
- John, O. P., and Gross, J. J. (2004). Healthy and unhealthy emotion regulation: personality processes, individual differences, and life span development. J. Person. 72, 1301–1334. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00298.x
- Josipovic, Z. (2010). Duality and nonduality in meditation research. *Conscious. Cogn.* 19, 1119–1121. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2010.03.016
- Josipovic, Z. (2014). Neural correlates of nondual awareness in meditation. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1307, 9–18. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12261
- Josipovic, Z. (2019). Nondual awareness: consciousness-as-such as non-representational reflexivity. *Prog. Brain Res.* 244, 273–298. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2018.10.021

- Jung-Beeman, M., Bowden, E. M., Haberman, J., Frymiare, J. L., Arambel-Liu, S., Greenblatt, R., et al. (2004). Neural activity when people solve verbal problems with insight. *PLoS Biol.* 2:e97. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020097
- Kahana, M. J., Sekuler, R., Caplan, J. B., Kirschen, M., and Madsen, J. R. (1999). Human theta oscillations exhibit task dependence during virtual maze navigation. *Nature* 399, 781–784. doi: 10.1038/21645
- Kanske, P., Heissler, J., Schönfelder, S., Bongers, A., and Wessa, M. (2011). How to regulate emotion? Neural networks for reappraisal and distraction. *Cereb. Cortex* 21, 1379–1388. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq216
- Kasamatsu, A., and Hirai, T. (1966). An electroencephalographic study on the Zen meditation (Zazen). *Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 20, 315–336. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.1966.tb02646.x
- Katahira, K., Yamazaki, Y., Yamaoka, C., Ozaki, H., Nakagawa, S., and Nagata, N. (2018). EEG correlates of the flow state: a combination of increased frontal theta and moderate frontocentral alpha rhythm in the mental arithmetic task. *Front. Psychol.* 9:300. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00300
- Kerr, C. E., Jones, S. R., Wan, Q., Pritchett, D. L., Wasserman, R. H., Wexler, A., et al. (2011). Effects of mindfulness meditation training on anticipatory alpha modulation in primary somatosensory cortex. *Brain Res. Bull.* 85, 96–103. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011.03.026
- Kerr, C. E., Sacchet, M. D., Lazar, S. W., Moore, C. I., and Jones, S. R. (2013). Mindfulness starts with the body: somatosensory attention and top-down modulation of cortical alpha rhythms in mindfulness meditation. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:12. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00012
- Kirov, R., Weiss, C., Siebner, H. R., Born, J., and Marshall, L. (2009). Slow oscillation electrical brain stimulation during waking promotes EEG theta activity and memory encoding. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 15460–15465. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0904438106
- Klimesch, W. (2011). Evoked alpha and early access to the knowledge system: the P1 inhibition timing hypothesis. *Brain Res.* 1408, 52–71. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres. 2011.06.003
- Klimesch, W. (2012). Alpha-band oscillations, attention, and controlled access to stored information. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16, 606–617. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2012.10. 007
- Klimesch, W., Doppelmayr, M., Stadler, W., Pöllhuber, D., Sauseng, P., and Röhm, D. (2001). Episodic retrieval is reflected by a process specific increase in human electroencephalographic theta activity. *Neurosci. Lett.* 302, 49–52. doi: 10.1016/ s0304-3940(01)01656-1
- Klimesch, W., Sauseng, P., and Hanslmayr, S. (2007). EEG alpha oscillations: the inhibition-timing hypothesis. *Brain Res. Rev.* 53, 63–88. doi: 10.1016/j. brainresrev.2006.06.003
- Knyazev, G. G. (2012). EEG delta oscillations as a correlate of basic homeostatic and motivational processes. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 36, 677–695. doi: 10.1016/ j.neubiorev.2011.10.002
- Kometer, M., Pokorny, T., Seifritz, E., and Volleinweider, F. X. (2015). Psilocybin-induced spiritual experiences and insightfulness are associated with synchronization of neuronal oscillations. *Psychopharmacology* 232, 3663–3676. doi: 10.1007/s00213-015-4026-7
- Kounios, J., and Beeman, M. (2009). The Aha! moment: the cognitive neuroscience of insight. *Curr. Direct. Psychol. Sci.* 18, 210–216. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009. 01638.x
- Krause, C. M., Sillanmäki, L., Koivisto, M., Saarela, C., Häggqvist, A., Laine, M., et al. (2000). The effects of memory load on event-related EEG desynchronization and synchronization. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 111, 2071–2078. doi: 10.1016/s1388-2457(00)00429-6
- Kubota, Y., Sato, W., Toichi, M., Murai, T., Okada, T., Hayashi, A., et al. (2001). Frontal midline theta rhythm is correlated with cardiac autonomic activities during the performance of an attention demanding meditation procedure. *Cogn. Brain Res.* 11, 281–287. doi: 10.1016/s0926-6410(00)00086-0
- Landers, M. J., Sitskoorn, M. M., Rutten, G. J. M., Mandonnet, E., and De Baene, W. (2021). A systematic review of the use of subcortical intraoperative electrical stimulation mapping for monitoring of executive deficits and neglect: what is the evidence so far? *Acta Neurochirurgica* 164, 177–191. doi: 10.1007/s00701-021-05012-w
- Lane, T. J. (2020). The minimal self hypothesis. Conscious. Cogn. 85:103029. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2020.103029
- Lasaponara, S., Mauro, F., Ben-Soussan, T. D., Carducci, F., Tombini, M., Quattrocchi, C. C., et al. (2016). Electrophysiological indexes of eyes open and

closed resting states conditions following the Quadrato Motor Training. *Int. J. Bioelectromagn.* 18, 99–108.

- Lasaponara, S., Mauro, F., Carducci, F., Paoletti, P., Tombini, M., Quattrocchi, C. C., et al. (2017). Increased alpha band functional connectivity following the Quadrato Motor Training: a longitudinal study. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 11:282. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00282
- Laufs, H., Kleinschmidt, A., Beyerle, A., Eger, E., Salek-Haddadi, A., Preibisch, C., et al. (2003a). EEG-correlated fMRI of human alpha activity. *Neuroimage* 19, 1463–1476. doi: 10.1016/s1053-8119(03)00286-6
- Laufs, H., Krakow, K., Sterzer, P., Eger, E., Beyerle, A., Salek-Haddadi, A., et al. (2003b). Electroencephalographic signatures of attentional and cognitive default modes in spontaneous brain activity fluctuations at rest. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 11053–11058. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1831638100
- Laukkonen, R. E., and Slagter, H. A. (2021). From many to (n) one: meditation and the plasticity of the predictive mind. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 128, 199–217. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.06.021
- Lazarev, V. V. (1998). On the intercorrelation of some frequency and amplitude parameters of the human EEG and its functional significance. Communication I: multidimensional neurodynamic organization of functional states of the brain during intellectual, perceptive and motor activity in normal subjects. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 28, 77–98. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8760(97)00068-8
- Lee, D. J., Kulubya, E., Goldin, P., Goodarzi, A., and Girgis, F. (2018). Review of the neural oscillations underlying meditation. *Front. Neurosci.* 12:178. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00178
- Legrand, D. (2006). The bodily self: the sensori-motor roots of pre-reflective self-consciousness. *Phenomenol. Cogn. Sci.* 5, 89–118.
- Legrand, D. (2007). Pre-reflective self-as-subject from experiential and empirical perspectives. Conscious. Cogn. 16, 583–599.
- Lehmann, D., Faber, P. L., Achermann, P., Jeanmonod, D., Gianotti, L. R., and Pizzagalli, D. (2001). Brain sources of EEG gamma frequency during volitionally meditation-induced, altered states of consciousness, and experience of the self. *Psychiatry Res. Neuroimaging* 108, 111–121. doi: 10.1016/s0925-4927(01) 00116-0
- Lehmann, D., Faber, P. L., Tei, S., Pascual-Marqui, R. D., Milz, P., and Kochi, K. (2012). Reduced functional connectivity between cortical sources in five meditation traditions detected with lagged coherence using EEG tomography. *Neuroimage* 60, 1574–1586. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.042
- Leshem, R., De Fano, A., and Ben-Soussan, T. D. (2020). The implications of motor and cognitive inhibition for hot and cool executive functions: the case of quadrato motor training. *Front. Psychol.* 11:940. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00940
- Li, W., Li, Y., and Cao, D. (2021). The effectiveness of emotion cognitive reappraisal as measured by self-reported response and its link to EEG alpha asymmetry. *Behav. Brain Res.* 400:113042. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2020.113042
- Lo, P. C., Huang, M. L., and Chang, K. M. (2003). EEG alpha blocking correlated with perception of inner light during Zen meditation. Am. J. Chinese Med. 31, 629–642. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X03001272
- Lomas, T., Ivtzan, I., and Fu, C. H. (2015). A systematic review of the neurophysiology of mindfulness on EEG oscillations. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 57, 401–410. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.09.018
- Lutz, A., Greischar, L. L., Rawlings, N. B., Ricard, M., and Davidson, R. J. (2004). Long-term meditators self-induce high-amplitude gamma synchrony during mental practice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 16369–16373. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0407401101
- Lutz, A., Slagter, H. A., Dunne, J. D., and Davidson, R. J. (2008). Attention regulation and monitoring in meditation. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 12, 163–169.
- Lutz, A., Slagter, H. A., Rawlings, N. B., Francis, A. D., Greischar, L. L., and Davidson, R. J. (2009). Mental training enhances attentional stability: neural and behavioral evidence. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 13418–13427. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1614-09.2009
- Lutz, J. (2009). Flow and sense of coherence: two aspects of the same dynamic? *Glob. Health Promot.* 16, 63–67. doi: 10.1177/1757975909339774
- Mantini, D., Perrucci, M. G., Del Gratta, C., Romani, G. L., and Corbetta, M. (2007). Electrophysiological signatures of resting state networks in the human brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 13170–13175. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0700668104
- Marshall, L., Molle, M., and Born, J. (2006). Oscillating current stimulation–slow oscillation stimulation during sleep. [preprint]. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.299
- Marzetti, L., Di Lanzo, C., Zappasodi, F., Chella, F., Raffone, A., and Pizzella, V. (2014). Magnetoencephalographic alpha band connectivity reveals differential

default mode network interactions during focused attention and open monitoring meditation. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:832. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014. 00832

- Mason, L. I., Alexander, C. N., Travis, F. T., Marsh, G., Orme-Johnson, D. W., Gackenbach, J., et al. (1997). Electrophysiological correlates of higher states of consciousness during sleep in long-term: practitioners of the transcendental meditation program. *Sleep* 20, 102–110. doi: 10.1093/sleep/20.2.102
- Metzinger, T. (2018). "Why is mind wandering interesting for philosophers," in The Oxford Handbook of Spontaneous Thought: Mind-Wandering, Creativity, and Dreaming, eds K. C. R. Fox and K. Christoff (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 97–111. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00746
- Metzinger, T. (2020). Minimal phenomenal experience: meditation, tonic alertness, and the phenomenology of "pure" consciousness. *Philos. Mind Sci.* 1, 1–44. doi: 10.33735/phimisci.2020.i.46
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., and Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis. *Cogn. Psychol.* 41, 49–100. doi: 10.1006/cogp.1999.0734
- Moran, R. J., Campo, P., Maestu, F., Reilly, R. B., Dolan, R. J., and Strange, B. A. (2010). Peak frequency in the theta and alpha bands correlates with human working memory capacity. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 4:200. doi: 10.3389/fnhum. 2010.00200
- Mulert, C., Juckel, G., Brunnmeier, M., Karch, S., Leicht, G., Mergl, R., et al. (2007a). Prediction of treatment response in major depression: integration of concepts. J. Affect. Disord. 98, 215–225. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2006.07.021
- Mulert, C., Juckel, G., Brunnmeier, M., Karch, S., Leicht, G., Mergl, R., et al. (2007b). Rostral anterior cingulate cortex activity in the theta band predicts response to antidepressive medication. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 38, 78–81. doi: 10.1177/155005940703800209
- Murata, T., Koshino, Y., Omori, M., Murata, I., Nishio, M., Sakamoto, K., et al. (1994). Quantitative EEG study on Zen meditation (zaZen). *Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 48, 881–890. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.1994.tb0 3090.x
- Murata, T., Takahashi, T., Hamada, T., Omori, M., Kosaka, H., Yoshida, H., et al. (2004). Individual trait anxiety levels characterizing the properties of Zen meditation. *Neuropsychobiology* 50, 189–194. doi: 10.1159/0000 79113
- Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., Carhart-Harris, R. L., Moran, R. J., Brookes, M. J., Williams, T. M., Errtizoe, D., et al. (2013). Broadband cortical desynchronization underlies the human psychedelic state. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 15171–15183. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2063-13.2013
- Neufeld, M. Y., Rabey, M. J., Parmet, Y., Sifris, P., Treves, T. A., and Korczyn, A. D. (1994). Effects of a single intravenous dose of scopolamine on the quantitative EEG in Alzheimer's disease patients and age-matched controls. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 91, 407–412. doi: 10.1016/ 0013-4694(94)90162-7
- Nigg, J. T. (2017). Annual research review: on the relations among self-regulation, self-control, executive functioning, effortful control, cognitive control, impulsivity, risk-taking, and inhibition for developmental psychopathology. *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 58, 361–383. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12675
- Nikhilananda, S. W. (1956). *Raja Yoga*. New York, NY: Ramakrishna-Vivekananda Center.
- Oatley, K. (2007). "Narrative modes of consciousness and selfhood," in *The Cambridge Handbook of Consciousness*, eds P. D. Zelazo, M. Moscovitch, and E. Thompson (Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press), 375–402. doi: 10.1017/cbo9780511816789.015
- Ochsner, K. N., Ray, R. D., Cooper, J. C., Robertson, E. R., Chopra, S., Gabrieli, J. D. E., et al. (2004). For better or for worse: neural systems supporting the cognitive down and up-regulation of negative emotion. *Neuroimage* 23, 483–499. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.06.030
- Osipova, D., Ahveninen, J., Kaakkola, S., Jääskeläinen, I. P., Huttunen, J., and Pekkonen, E. (2003). Effects of scopolamine on MEG spectral power and coherence in elderly subjects. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 114, 1902–1907. doi: 10.1016/ s1388-2457(03)00165-2
- Paoletti, P. (2002a). Flussi, Territori, Luogo [Flows, Territories, Place]. Madeira: M.E.D. Publishing.
- Paoletti, P. (2002b). Flussi, Territori, Luogo II [Flows, Territories, Place II]. Madeira: M.E.D. Publishing.

- Paoletti, P., and Ben-Soussan, T. D. (2019). The sphere model of consciousness: from geometrical to neuro-psycho-educational perspectives. *Logica Univ.* 13, 395–415. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.548813
- Paoletti, P., and Ben-Soussan, T. D. (2020). Reflections on inner and outer silence and consciousness without contents according to the sphere model of consciousness. *Front. Psychol.* 11:1807. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01807
- Paoletti, P., and Ben-Soussan, T. D. (2021). "Emotional intelligence, identification, and self-awareness according to the sphere model of consciousness," in *The Science of Emotional Intelligence*, ed. S. G. Taukeni (London: Intech Open).
- Paoletti, P., Ben-Soussan, T. D., and Glicksohn, J. (2020). "Inner navigation and theta activity: from movement to cognition and hypnosis according to the sphere model of consciousness," in *Hypnotherapy and Hypnosis*, ed. C. Mordeniz (London: Intech Open).
- Paoletti, P., and Salvagio, A. (2011). Osservazione. Rome: 3P Publishing.
- Parker, S. (2017). Yoga nidrâ: an opportunity for collaboration to extend the science of sleep states. *Sleep Vigilance* 1, 57–63. doi: 10.1007/s41782-017-0026-5
- Parker, S., Bharati, S. V., and Fernandez, M. (2013). Defining yoga-nidra: traditional accounts, physiological research, and future directions. *Int. J. Yoga Ther.* 23, 11–16. doi: 10.17761/ijyt.23.1.t636651v22018148
- Parvaz, M. A., MacNamara, A., Goldstein, R. Z., and Hajcak, G. (2012). Eventrelated induced frontal alpha as a marker of lateral prefrontal cortex activation during cognitive reappraisal. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 12, 730–740. doi: 10.3758/s13415-012-0107-9

Peters, F. (2009). Consciousness and self-regulation. J. Mind Behav. 30, 267-290.

- Pizzagalli, D., Hendrick, A. M., Horras, K. A., and Davidson, R. J. (2002). Anterior cingulate theta activity is associated with degree of treatment response in major depression. *Int. Congress Ser.* 1232, 711–717. doi: 10.1016/s0531-5131(01) 00810-x
- Raffone, A., Marzetti, L., Del Gratta, C., Perrucci, M. G., Romani, G. L., and Pizzella, V. (2019). Toward a brain theory of meditation. *Prog. Brain Res.* 244, 207–232. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2018.10.028
- Raffone, A., and Srinivasan, N. (2009). An adaptive workspace hypothesis about the neural correlates of consciousness: insights from neuroscience and meditation studies. *Prog. Brain Res.* 176, 161–180. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(09)17620-3
- Rasch, B., and Born, J. (2007). Maintaining memories by reactivation. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 17, 698–703. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2007.11.007
- Riba, J., Anderer, P., Jané, F., Saletu, B., and Barbanoj, M. J. (2004). Effects of the South American psychoactive beverage ayahuasca on regional brain electrical activity in humans: a functional neuroimaging study using low-resolution electromagnetic tomography. *Neuropsychobiology* 50, 89–101. doi: 10.1159/ 000077946
- Riba, J., Anderer, P., Morte, A., Urbano, G., Jané, F., Saletu, B., et al. (2002). Topographic pharmaco-EEG mapping of the effects of the South American psychoactive beverage ayahuasca in healthy volunteers. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 53, 613–628. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2125.2002.01609.x
- Rodriguez-Larios, J., and Alaerts, K. (2021). EEG alpha-theta dynamics during mind wandering in the context of breath focus meditation: an experience sampling approach with novice meditation practitioners. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 53, 1855–1868. doi: 10.1111/ejn.15073
- Rodriguez-Larios, J., Wong, K. F., Lim, J., and Alaerts, K. (2020). Mindfulness training is associated with changes in alpha-theta cross-frequency dynamics during meditation. *Mindfulness* 11, 2695–2704. doi: 10.1007/s12671-020-01487-3
- Sandkühler, S., and Bhattacharya, J. (2008). Deconstructing insight: EEG correlates of insightful problem solving. *PLoS One* 3:e1459.
- Sannita, W. G., Maggi, L., and Rosadini, G. (1987). Effects of scopolamine (0.25– 0.75 mg im) on the quantitative EEG and the neuropsychological status of healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychobiology* 17, 199–205. doi: 10.1159/000118365
- Sauseng, P., Klimesch, W., Doppelmayr, M., Hanslmayr, S., Schabus, M., and Gruber, W. R. (2004). Theta coupling in the human electroencephalogram during a working memory task. *Neurosci. Lett.* 354, 123–126. doi: 10.1016/j. neulet.2003.10.002
- Sauseng, P., Klimesch, W., Doppelmayr, M., Pecherstorfer, T., Freunberger, R., and Hanslmayr, S. (2005a). EEG alpha synchronization and functional coupling during top-down processing in a working memory task. *Hum. Brain Mapping* 26, 148–155. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20150
- Sauseng, P., Klimesch, W., Schabus, M., and Doppelmayr, M. (2005b). Frontoparietal EEG coherence in theta and upper alpha reflect central executive

functions of working memory. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 57, 97-103. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2005.03.018

- Sauseng, P., Klimesch, W., Gruber, W., Doppelmayr, M., Stadler, W., and Schabus, M. (2002). The interplay between theta and alpha oscillations in the human electroencephalogram reflects the transfer of information between memory systems. *Neurosci. Lett.* 324, 121–124. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3940(02)00225-2
- Schmeichel, B. J., Volokhov, R. N., and Demaree, H. A. (2008). Working memory capacity and the self-regulation of emotional expression and experience. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 95:1526. doi: 10.1037/a0013345
- Schulze, L., Domes, G., Krüger, A., Berger, C., Fleischer, M., Prehn, K., et al. (2011). Neuronal correlates of cognitive reappraisal in borderline patients with affective instability. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 564–573. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.10.025
- Sederberg, P. B., Kahana, M. J., Howard, M. W., Donner, E. J., and Madsen, J. R. (2003). Theta and gamma oscillations during encoding predict subsequent recall. J. Neurosci. 23, 10809–10814. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.23-34-10809.2003
- Slagter, H. A., Lutz, A., Greischar, L. L., Francis, A. D., Nieuwenhuis, S., Davis, J. M., et al. (2007). Mental training affects distribution of limited brain resources. *PLoS Biol.* 5:e138. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0050138
- Slagter, H. A., Lutz, A., Greischar, L. L., Nieuwenhuis, S., and Davidson, R. J. (2009). Theta phase synchrony and conscious target perception: impact of intensive mental training. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 21, 1536–1549. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21125
- Sloan, E. P., Fenton, G. W., and Standage, K. P. (1992). Anticholinergic drug effects on quantitative electroencephalogram, visual evoked potential, and verbal memory. *Biol. Psychiatry* 31, 600–606. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(92)90246-v
- Staresina, B. P., and Wimber, M. (2019). A neural chronometry of memory recall. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 23, 1071–1085. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2019.09.011
- Sternberg, R. J., and Davidson, J. E. (1995). *The Nature of Insight*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Sugimura, K., Iwasa, Y., Kobayashi, R., Honda, T., Hashimoto, J., Kashihara, S., et al. (2021). Association between long-range temporal correlations in intrinsic EEG activity and subjective sense of identity. *Sci. Rep.* 11, 1–11. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-020-79444-2
- Symons, A. E., El-Deredy, W., Schwartze, M., and Kotz, S. A. (2016). The functional role of neural oscillations in non-verbal emotional communication. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 10:239. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00239
- Takahashi, T., Murata, T., Hamada, T., Omori, M., Kosaka, H., Kikuchi, M., et al. (2005). Changes in EEG and autonomic nervous activity during meditation and their association with personality traits. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 55, 199–207. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2004.07.004
- Tart, C. T. (1972). Altered States of Consciousness. New York, NY: Doubleday.
- Tei, S., Faber, P. L., Lehmann, D., Tsujiuchi, T., Kumano, H., Pascual-Marqui, R. D., et al. (2009). Meditators and non-meditators: EEG source imaging during resting. *Brain Topogr.* 22, 158–165. doi: 10.1007/s10548-009-0107-4
- Tomljenoviæ, H., Begiæ, D., and Maštroviæ, Z. (2016). Changes in trait brainwave power and coherence, state and trait anxiety after threemonth transcendental meditation (TM) practice. *Psychiatr. Danubina* 28, 1–72.
- Travis, F. (2001). Autonomic and EEG patterns distinguish transcending from other experiences during transcendental meditation practice. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 42, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8760(01)00143-x
- Travis, F., Haaga, D. A., Hagelin, J., Tanner, M., Arenander, A., Nidich, S., et al. (2010). A self-referential default brain state: patterns of coherence, power, and eLORETA sources during eyes-closed rest and Transcendental Meditation practice. *Cogn. Process.* 11, 21–30. doi: 10.1007/s10339-009-0343-2
- Travis, F., Harung, H. S., and Lagrosen, Y. (2011). Moral development, executive functioning, peak experiences and brain patterns in professional and amateur classical musicians: interpreted in light of a unified theory of performance. *Conscious. Cogn.* 20, 1256–1264. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2011. 03.020
- Travis, F., Tecce, J., Arenander, A., and Wallace, R. K. (2002). Patterns of EEG coherence, power, and contingent negative variation characterize the integration of transcendental and waking states. *Biol. Psychol.* 61, 293–319. doi: 10.1016/s0301-0511(02)00048-0
- Vaghefi, M., Nasrabadi, A. M., Golpayegani, S. M. R. H., Mohammadi, M. R., and Gharibzadeh, S. (2015). Spirituality and brain waves. J. Med. Eng. Technol. 39, 153–158. doi: 10.3109/03091902.2014.1001528
- Vago, D. R., and David, S. A. (2012). Self-awareness, self-regulation, and selftranscendence (S-ART): a framework for understanding the neurobiological

mechanisms of mindfulness. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:296. doi: 10.3389/fnhum. 2012.00296

- Vaitl, D., Birbaumer, N., Gruzelier, J., Jamieson, G. A., Kotchoubey, B., Kübler, A., et al. (2005). Psychobiology of altered states of consciousness. *Psychol. Bull.* 131:98. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.131.1.98
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., van den Wildenberg, W. P., and Lamme, V. A. (2009). Dissociating consciousness from inhibitory control: evidence for unconsciously triggered response inhibition in the stop-signal task. *J. Exp. Psychol.* 35:1129. doi: 10.1037/a0013551
- Van Lutterveld, R., Houlihan, S. D., Pal, P., Sacchet, M. D., McFarlane-Blake, C., Patel, P. R., et al. (2017). Source-space EEG neurofeedback links subjective experience with brain activity during effortless awareness meditation. *Neuroimage* 151, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.02.047
- Varela, F. J. (1996). Neurophenomenology: a methodological remedy for the hard problem. J. Conscious. Stud. 3, 330–349.
- Vithoulkas, G., and Muresanu, D. F. (2014). Conscience and consciousness: a definition. J. Med. Life 7:104.
- Von Stein, A., and Sarnthein, J. (2000). Different frequencies for different scales of cortical integration: from local gamma to long range alpha/theta synchronization. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 38, 301–313. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8760(00)00172-0
- Wade, M., Prime, H., Jenkins, J. M., Yeates, K. O., Williams, T., and Lee, K. (2018). On the relation between theory of mind and executive functioning: a developmental cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 25, 2119–2140. doi: 10.3758/s13423-018-1459-0
- Wahbeh, H., Sagher, A., Back, W., Pundhir, P., and Travis, F. (2018). A systematic review of transcendent states across meditation and contemplative traditions. *Explore* 14, 19–35. doi: 10.1016/j.explore.2017.0 7.007
- Wallace, R. K., Benson, H., and Wilson, A. F. (1971). A wakeful hypometabolic physiologic state. Am. J. Physiol. Legacy Content 221, 795–799. doi: 10.1152/ ajplegacy.1971.221.3.795
- Walsh, R. E., and Vaughan, F. E. (1993). Paths Beyond Ego: The Transpersonal Vision. New York, NY: Perigee Books.
- Ward, L. M. (2003). Synchronous neural oscillations and cognitive processes. Trends Cogn. Sci. 7, 553–559. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2003.10.012
- Weiss, S., and Rappelsberger, P. (2000). Long-range EEG synchronization during word encoding correlates with successful memory performance. *Cogn. Brain Res.* 9, 299–312. doi: 10.1016/s0926-6410(00)00011-2

- Welsh, M. C., Friedman, S. L., and Spieker, S. J. (2006). "Executive functions in developing children: current conceptualizations and questions for the future," in *Blackwell Handbook of Early Childhood Development*, eds K. McCartney and D. Phillips (Hoboken, NJ: Blackwell Publishing), 167–187. doi: 10.1002/ 9780470757703.ch9
- Wilson, G. F., Swain, C. R., and Ullsperger, P. (1999). EEG power changes during a multiple level memory retention task. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 32, 107–118. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8760(99)00005-7
- Winter, U., LeVan, P., Borghardt, T. L., Akin, B., Wittmann, M., Leyens, Y., et al. (2020). Content-free awareness: EEG-fcMRI correlates of consciousness as such in an expert meditator. *Front. Psychol.* 10:3064. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.03064
- Wolff, N., Zink, N., Stock, A. K., and Beste, C. (2017). On the relevance of the alpha frequency oscillation's small-world network architecture for cognitive flexibility. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-14 490-x
- Yamamoto, S., Kitamura, Y., Yamada, N., Nakashima, Y., and Kuroda, S. (2006). Medial prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex in the generation of alpha activity induced by transcendental meditation: a magnetoencephalographic study. Acta Med. Okayama 60, 51–58. doi: 10.18926/AMO/30752
- Zahavi, D., and Gallagher, S. (2008). The (in) visibility of others: a reply to Herschbach. *Philos. Explor.* 11, 237–244.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Paoletti, Leshem, Pellegrino and Ben-Soussan. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in Psychology

Paving the way for a greater understanding of human behavior

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



